
 
 

Shelton City Council 
Meeting Agenda 

August 6, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform 

 
 
 
 
A.  Call to Order 

• Pledge of Allegiance 
• Roll Call 
• Late Changes to the Agenda   

B.  Council Reports   
C.  Consent Agenda (Action) 

1.  Vouchers numbered 111157 through 111213 and EFT payment numbers 498 through 520 in the total 
amount of $389,912.64  

2.  Vouchers numbered 111226 through 111257 and EFT payment numbers 521 through 541 in the  
     total amount of $226,166.12 
3.  Vouchers numbered 111258 through 111285, EFT payment numbers 542 through 553 in the  
     total amount of $138,939.02 and bank drafts 00110379, DFT0001624 through DFT0001722 in the total   
     amount of $1,486,514.59 
4.  Payroll warrants numbered 3988 through 3990 and 12835 through 12939. Warrants 111130 through  
     111149 in the amount of $529,012.10 
5.  Payroll warrants numbered 3991 and 12940 through 13038. Warrants 111214 through 111225 in the  
     amount of $389,968.13 

      6.  Resolution No. 1341-0724 Grant Acceptance for Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Road 
7.  Minutes: 

• Study Session of June 25, 2024 
• Business Meeting of July 2, 2024 
• Study Session of July 9, 2024    

          
D.  General Public Comment (3-minute time limit) 
      The Council invites members of the public to provide comments on any City-related topic. To make comments in person, please 
        sign in on the public comment sheet and keep an instruction card. If you would like to comment on an Action item, please write 
        the agenda item number on the list. To comment virtually using Zoom, please use the “Raise Hand” feature to alert the City Clerk. 
        If you have joined Zoom on your telephone, dial *9 to use the “Raise Hand” feature. City Councilmembers and City Staff will not enter 
        into a dialogue during public comment. If the Council feels an issue requires follow up, Staff will be directed to respond at an    
        appropriate time. 
 
E.  Presentations 
     1.  Shelton-Mason County Chamber Q1 LTAC Report – Presented by President/CEO Deidre Peterson 
 
F.  Business Agenda (Study/No Action) 
     1.  Resolution No. 1342-0724 Contract Amendment No. 3 with Aspect Consulting for C Street Landfill  
          Post-Cleanup Monitoring – Presented by Superintendent Brent Armstrong 
     2.  Contract with Flock Safety – Presented by Police Chief Chris Kostad 
 



  
  
     3.  PUD Poles for Automatic License Plate Recognition (ALPR) Cameras – Presented by Police Chief Chris 
          Kostad 
         
G.  Action Agenda (Action/Public Comment Taken) 
      No action items 
 
H.  Administration Reports 
      1.  City Manager Report 
 
I.  New Items for Discussion 
 
J.  Announcement of Next Meeting – August 20, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 
 
K.  Adjourn 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Special Note for Virtual Public Participation 
 

The meeting can be viewed at: https://www.youtube.com/user/cityofshelton 

The public can provide comments virtually by: 
Email:  donna.nault@sheltonwa.gov (before 5:00pm the day of the meeting)  

Telephone: (360) 432-5103 (before 5:00pm the day of the meeting) 
Join the Zoom meeting by clicking on the link posted on the City Council’s webpage 

 
Your comments will be relayed directly to the Council. 

https://www.youtube.com/user/cityofshelton
mailto:donna.nault@sheltonwa.gov


 

Updated 7/29/2024 
 

  
2024 Looking Ahead 
    (Items and dates are subject to change) 

 
 

 
Tues. 8/13 
6:00 p.m. 

Study Session Study Agenda 
• Shopping Cart Regulations 

Packet Items Due: 
8/9 @ noon 

Tues. 8/20 
6:00 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Regular Meeting Consent Agenda 
• Vouchers/Payroll Warrants/Meeting Minutes 

Presentations 
• Forest Festival LTAC Report 
• Shelton-Mason County Chamber Q2 LTAC 

Report 
• June Financial Status Report 

Business Agenda 
• Resolution No. 1336-0624 Acceptance of 

Commerce Funds for Cross-town Trail 
Design 

• Resolution No. 1338-0624 Acceptance of 
WSDOT SWCC Grant for Cross-town Trail 
Design 

• Water Meter Upgrades Installation (AMI) 
Project Bidding 

Action Agenda 
• Civic Center Rotating Art Gallery 
• Resolution No. 1342-0724 Contract 

Amendment No. 3 with Aspect Consulting for 
C Street Landfill Post-Construction 
Monitoring 

• Contract with Flock Safety for Security 
Cameras 

• PUD Poles for License Plate Recognition 
(LPR) Cameras 

Administration Report 
•  

Packet Items Due: 
8/9 @ 5:00 p.m. 

Tues. 8/27 
6:00 p.m. 

Study Session Study Agenda 
• Preliminary 2025 Budget Presentation 

Packet Items Due: 
8/23 @ noon 

Tues. 9/3 
6:00 p.m. 

Regular Meeting Consent Agenda 
• Vouchers/Payroll Warrants/Meeting Minutes 
• Resolution No. 1336-0624 Acceptance of 

Commerce Funds for Cross-town Trail 
Design 

• Resolution No. 1338-0624 Acceptance of 
WSDOT SWCC Grant for Cross-town Trail 
Design 

Presentations 
•  

Business Agenda 
•  

Action Agenda 

Packet Items Due: 
8/23 @ 5:00 p.m. 



 

Updated 7/29/2024 
 

• Resolution No. 1340-0624 Water Meter 
Upgrades Installation (AMI) Project Award 

Administration Report 
•  

Tues. 9/10 
6:00 p.m. 

Study Session Study Agenda Packet Items Due: 
9/6 @ noon 

Tues. 9/17 
5:45 p.m. 

SMPD Meeting Consent Agenda 
• Vouchers/Meeting Minutes 

Business Agenda 
•  

Action Agenda 
•  

Administration Report 
•  

Packet Items Due: 
9/6 @ 5:00 p.m. 

Tues. 9/17 
6:00 p.m. 

Regular Meeting Consent Agenda 
• Vouchers/Payroll Warrants/Meeting Minutes 

Presentations 
• July Financial Status Report 

Business Agenda 
•  

Action Agenda 
•  

Administration Report 
•  

Packet Items Due: 
9/6 @ 5:00 p.m. 

Tues. 9/24 
6:00 p.m. 

Study Session Study Agenda Packet Items Due: 
9/20 @ noon 

Tues. 10/1 
6:00 p.m. 

Regular Meeting Consent Agenda 
• Vouchers/Payroll Warrants/Meeting Minutes 

Presentations 
•  

Business Agenda 
•  

Action Agenda 
•  

Administration Report 
•  

Packet Items Due: 
9/20 @ 5:00 p.m. 

Tues. 10/8 
6:00 p.m. 

Study Session Study Agenda  Packet Items Due: 
10/4 @ noon 

Tues. 10/15 
6:00 p.m. 

Regular Meeting Consent Agenda 
• Vouchers/Payroll Warrants/Meeting Minutes 

Presentations 
• August Financial Status Report 

Business Agenda 
•  

Action Agenda 
•  

Administration Report 
•  

Packet Items Due: 
10/4 @ 5:00 p.m. 

Other – TBD 

• Project and Funding Authorization for Wallace Kneeland/Shelton Springs Intersection Improvements 
• Height Limit Ordinance 
• Resolution No. 1316-0124 ILA with Mason County for Reimbursable Work, Supplies and Services 
• International Property Maintenance Code  























































































































































Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item C6) 

Touch Date:  06/27/2024  
Brief Date:     07/16/2024   
Action Date:  08/06/2024  

Department: Public Works 
   
Presented By:  Aaron Nix, Capital Projects Manager 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: 

PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 
Grant Acceptance for Wallace 
Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd 
Intersection Improvements 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
- Resolution No. 1341-0724 
- Attachments 

   

 
Action Requested: 
 

 Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head  J.O.H 

 
 

 
Finance Director   

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk  

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION:  
The City was awarded a direct appropriation by the Washington State Legislature in 2019 in the amount of  
$650,000 in order to design and construct improvements at the intersection of Wallace Kneeland Boulevard 
and Shelton Springs Road. The existing signal needs to be improved in order to increase the level of service 
that currently exists at this intersection (Level D). Right turn lanes, a new signal controller and other  
improvements will be required in order to maintain this level of service in the future.  Otherwise, the signal will  
continue to move towards failure and an unacceptable level of service within this intersection. Currently,  
especially with school in session, east bound traffic on Shelton Springs Road is heavily congested when school 
is released in the afternoon. 
   
ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES:  
This money is older grant funds that the City received in 2019. Originally, Staff and Council envisioned a  
roundabout in this area, but cost increases have placed a roundabout out of reach financially. The Council  
could elect to continue pursuing a roundabout, but it has been estimated that signal improvements ($1.6 million 
dollars) can be accomplished much cheaper than a roundabout ($4-$5 million), while still maintaining a  
level of service D, as adopted by the Shelton City Council previously.    
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION:  
We currently have a $650,000 legislative appropriation (2019) that is available and will be utilized towards 
design and construction of the proposed signal improvements, estimated to be approximately 1.6 million dollars 
(See attached intersection analysis conducted by SCJ Alliance). The project is slated to go to construction in 
2025, with the remainder of the monies needed being budgeted to complete the construction within the 2025 
capital budget. The project will be designed and permitted in 2024.    
PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
Materials, as it relates to this project, are in the process of being developed. Any information relevant to this 
project is available through the Public Works Department.     
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
“I move to adopt Resolution No. 1341-0724 within the consent agenda at the August 6, 2024 Council meeting.”   



   

RESOLUTION NO. 1341-0724 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ACCEPT GRANT FUNDS IN THE AMOUNT OF $650,000 FOR 

PROPOSED IMPROVEMENTS TO THE INTERSECTION OF WALLACE KNEELAND BOULEVARD AND 
SHELTON SPRINGS ROAD  

 
 
WHEREAS, the City was awarded funds by a Washington State Legislative appropriation in 2019 in order 
to begin improvements to the traffic flows at this intersection; and 
 
WHEREAS, several concepts have been discussed in the past, including a roundabout in this area, signal 
improvements and other options; and 
 
WHEREAS, It makes the most sense for the City to utilize this appropriation in the design and 
improvements associated with upgrading the signal in this area or starting design on a roundabout, 
alleviating current back-up delays and ensuring the functioning of this intersection in the future, as the 
City grows and expands in accordance with the Washington State Growth Management Act; and 
 
WHEREAS, SCJ Alliance conducted an analysis of this intersection and has concluded that improvements 
to the existing signal will allow the City to meet future demand of within this intersection, meeting the 
Council’s adopted level of service (D), at a much lower cost than would be required to construct a 
roundabout, but the issue is continuing to be discussed amongst Staff and the City Council. 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Shelton, Washington, as follows: 
 

1. The City Manager is authorized to accept grant funds in the amount of $650,000 for the design 
and construction of improvements to the intersection at Wallace Kneeland Boulevard and 
Shelton Springs Road. 

 
INTRODUCED on the 16th of July 2024 and PASSED by the City Council at its regular meeting on the 6th of 
August 2024. 
 
 
 
 
                                                                          __________________________________ 
ATTEST:                                                                Mayor Onisko 
 
   
____________________________  
City Clerk Nault  
 
 
 





 
 
April 22, 2024 
 
Mr. Jay Harris, PE 
Public Works Director 
City of Shelton 
525 West Cota Street 
Shelton, WA 98584 
 
RE: Wallace Kneeland and Shelton Springs Rd Intersection 

2024 Supplemental Transportation Budget 
State Funding 

 
Dear Mr. Harris: 
 
WSDOT is pleased to advise you that the 2024 Supplemental Transportation Budget has updated 
the above-mentioned project funding. The state funding is limited as shown below: 
 
Wallace Kneeland and Shelton Springs Rd Intersection   $650,000 

Prior Expenditures: $           0 
2023-25 Available Funding: $650,000 

Scope: Completion of Access Shelton Phase 3B at Wallace Kneeland Boulevard and North 
Shelton Springs Road. 

 
In the event the 2023-25 funding is not all reimbursed, WSDOT will need to request the 
remaining funding through the 2025-27 budget development. Until the funding is provided by the 
legislature, WSDOT can only reimburse your agency for the approved work completed each 
biennium, as reflected above. Therefore, it is critical that the city update the Local Project Report 
detailing the project’s delivery, so that the funding aligns with your schedule. 
 
In order to meet the state requirements, the following are required: 

• Project expenditures incurred before receiving notice from Local Programs of state fund 
authorization are not eligible for reimbursement.  

• Please refer to the Local Programs webpage for detailed authorization information 
including: (https://wsdot.wa.gov/business-wsdot/support-local-programs) 
 Local Agency Guidelines (LAG) manual for detailed requirements; 
 Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) and Statewide Transportation 

Improvement Program (STIP) amendments, as applicable; 
 Funding and billing forms; 

https://wsdot.wa.gov/business-wsdot/support-local-programs


Mr. Jay Harris, PE 
City of Shelton 
April 22, 2024 
 

 Local Project Report is required to be completed by the end of June and December 
each year. To access the database you will need an account name and password. 
Your account name is Shelton and your password is Shelt396. The password is 
case sensitive. 

 
Local Programs encourages all agencies to submit monthly progress billings to ensure timely 
reimbursement of eligible expenditures.  
 
For assistance, please contact your Region Local Programs Engineer, John Ho, at 564.669.1018 
or John.Ho@wsdot.wa.gov. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Jay Drye, PE 
Director 
Local Programs  
 
JD:st:cdm 
 
cc: John Ho, Olympic Region Local Programs Engineer 
 

mailto:John.Ho@wsdot.wa.gov


 

Technical Memo 

8730 Tallon Lane NE, Suite 200  Lacey, WA 98516  Office 360.352.1465  Fax 360.352.1509  scjalliance.com 

TO: Aaron Nix, City of Shelton 

FROM: Ryan Shea, PTP, Senior Transportation Planner 

DATE: March 13, 2024 

PROJECT: Wallace Kneeland Blvd and Shelton Springs Rd Intersection 

SUBJECT: Intersection Operational Analysis 

Introduction 

The City of Shelton was awarded Transportation Improvement Board (TIB) grant money to implement 

intersection improvements at the Wallace Kneeland Boulevard and Shelton Springs Road intersection. 

Prior analysis, conducted in July of 2019, recommended the construction of a roundabout at this 

location. The city has requested this intersection be re-evaluated to potentially shift to implementing 

traffic signal improvements in lieu of roundabout control. This memo describes the existing safety and 

operational conditions, traffic volume forecasting process and future operational analysis results. 

The analysis study area is shown in Figure 1. 

  
 

 

Figure 1 – Project Vicinity Map 



March 13, 2024 
Page 2 of 12 

 

 

Project Context 

Background Information 

A Traffic Volume Forecast and Intersection Operational Analysis was performed for the Wallace 

Kneeland Boulevard/N 13th Street and Wallace Kneeland Boulevard/Shelton Springs Road intersections 

in July of 2019. This analysis was conducted in support of the city pursuing Transportation Improvement 

Board (TIB) grant money to implement intersection improvements. The Study provided a 

recommendation of roundabout control for both intersections.  

The City of Shelton was awarded the TIB grant money, however the money awarded will not cover the 

cost of constructing a roundabout at the Wallace Kneeland Boulevard/Shelton Springs Road intersection 

and therefore the city is pursuing implementing traffic signal improvements in lieu of roundabout 

control.  

Analysis Parameters  

In support of the City’s effort to implement traffic signal improvements at Wallace Kneeland 

Boulevard/Shelton Springs Road intersection, 2044 design year and 2025 opening year volumes were 

prepared and analyzed to identify appropriate improvements. 

Existing Conditions 

Wallace Kneeland Boulevard 

Wallace Kneeland Boulevard is classified as a principal arterial between US 101 and Shelton Springs 

Road, with two travel lanes in each direction for the majority of the section and a posted speed of 30 

mph. This portion of Wallace Kneeland Blvd serves commercial properties and provides access to US 

101. Wallace Kneeland Boulevard east of Shelton Springs Road is classified as a minor arterial, with a 

single travel lane in each direction and a posted speed of 30 mph..  

Shelton Springs Road 

Shelton Springs Road is classified as a major collector, with a single travel lane in each direction and a 

posted travel speed of 30 mph. Oakland Bay Junior High School and Shelton High School are both 

located along Shelton Springs Road, and a two-way left-turn lane (TWLTL) is provided along the school 

frontage. 

 

Wallace Kneeland Boulevard/Shelton Springs Road Intersection 

This intersection currently operates under traffic signal control, with Wallace Kneeland traveling 

east/west and Shelton Springs Road traveling north/south. The signal currently operates with two 

phases, using permissive control for all left-turn movements. The northbound and southbound 

approaches of Shelton Springs Rd and the westbound approach of Wallace Kneeland Blvd provide a left-

turn lane and a shared through-right lane. The eastbound approach of Wallace Kneeland Blvd provides a 

left-turn lane, a through lane and a shared through-right lane. movements. This intersection is shown in 

Figure 2.  



March 13, 2024 
Page 3 of 12 

 

 

Figure 2. Wallce Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Intersection  

 

Traffic Volumes 

Traffic Count Consultants, TC2, a transportation data collection service, provided morning peak, and 

evening peak period turning movement counts. The counts were conducted on January 09, 2024 

between 7:00 and 9:00 AM for the AM peak period and 2:00 and 6:00 PM for the PM peak period. The 

PM peak hour counts were collected over a four-hour period to capture the school traffic peak as well as 

the surrounding roadway network peak. The highest hour in the PM peak period occurred during the 

school peak and has been used for the intersection analysis. 

The existing AM peak hour 2024 traffic volumes are presented in Figure 3. The existing PM peak hour 

2024 traffic volumes are presented in Figure 4. Given that the PM peak hour volumes are higher overall 

and higher for most of the individual movements, the operational analysis is focused on the PM peak 

hour. 

The turning movement count diagrams are attached.  

  



March 13, 2024 
Page 4 of 12 

 

 

Figure 3. Existing 2024 AM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes 

 
Figure 4. Existing 2024 PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes 

 

  



March 13, 2024 
Page 5 of 12 

 

 

Crash History 

The Washington Department of Transportation provides crash data for study area roadways. The data 
was collected over the five-year span between January 1, 2019 and December 31, 2023 and reviewed 
for the study area intersections. The total crashes by severity are provided in Table 1. 

Table 1.  Existing Crash Severity  

Fatal 
Serious 
Injury 

Minor 
Injury 

Possible 
Injury 

Property 
Damage 

Only Total 

0 0 3 7 14 24 

There were no serious injury or fatal crashes reported at the study area intersections. Overall, 
approximately 60 percent of all the reported crashes were classified as property damage only (with no 
apparent injury). 

Roadway Improvements 

The City of Shelton Comprehensive Plan (2017) identifies, in the twenty-year transportation plan, 

providing a second westbound through lane and eastbound right-turn lane at the Wallace Kneeland 

Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd intersection. 

Future Traffic Volumes 

Traffic volume forecasts were prepared for PM peak hour conditions for the 2025 opening year and 

2044 design year. The future traffic volume forecast includes non-specific background traffic growth 

pipeline development traffic.  

For the non-specific background traffic growth, a 3.0 percent annual growth rate (non-compounded) 

was assumed, which is consistent with the prior analysis.  

The pipeline development projects identified within the vicinity of the study intersection include the 

following: 

• Proposed 54-unit single-family housing across from the YMCA  on Shelton Springs Road 

• Proposed Olympic Heights Phase 1 - 199- unit single-family housing 

• Potential Full Build of Olympic Heights – 1,715 housing units and a new elementary school - use 
for sensitivity analysis 

The projected opening year(2025) traffic volumes are shown in Figure 5 and the projected design year 

(2044) traffic volumes are shown in Figure 6. Projected design year (2044) sensitivity traffic volumes are 

shown in Figure 7. The traffic volume calculations are attached. 

 



March 13, 2024 
Page 6 of 12 

 

 

Figure 5. Projected Opening Year (2025) Traffic Volumes  

 
Figure 6. Projected Design Year (2044) Traffic Volumes 

 

  



March 13, 2024 
Page 7 of 12 

 

 

Figure 7. Projected Design Year (2044) Sensitivity Traffic Volumes 

Traffic Operations Analysis 

Traffic analyses were conducted to identify any deficiencies for the PM peak hour in the 2024 base year 

2025 opening year and 2044 design year.  

Level of Service 

The acknowledged source for determining operating performance for arterial segments and 

independent intersections is the current edition of the Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) published by 

the Transportation Research Board (TRB).   

Intersection analysis was performed using the Synchro/SimTraffic software package (version 12). This 

software implements the methods of the 7th Edition HCM. Operations analysis results are described in 

terms of Level of Service (LOS). LOS is a qualitative term describing operating conditions a driver will 

experience while traveling on a street or highway during a specific time interval. LOS ranges from A (very 

little delay) to F (long delays and congestion). The City of Shelton has adopted a minimum LOS D 

standard for this intersection. 

Volume to Capacity Ratio 

Another measure of the performance of an intersection is the “degree of saturation” which is typically 

presented as the “volume to capacity” (v/c) ratio. Many factors affect the volume of traffic an 

intersection can accommodate during a specific time interval. These factors include the number of 

lanes, lane widths, the type of signal phasing, the number of parking maneuvers on the adjacent street, 

etc. Based on these factors, the intersection (or individual lane group) is determined to have a total 

theoretical vehicle carrying capacity “c” for the analysis period. The analysis period volume “v” is 

compared to the calculated carrying capacity and presented as a ratio.  If the v/c ratio is below 1.0, the 



March 13, 2024 
Page 8 of 12 

 

 

demand volume is less than the maximum capacity. If the v/c ratio is over 1.0, the demand volume 

exceeds the available capacity. 

Vehicle Queues 

A vehicle queue analysis was conducted using the SimTraffic simulation tool included in the Synchro 

software package. The analysis shows the average of five simulations, providing the 95th percentile 

queue, which is the peak typical queue experienced, excluding the highest five percent of occurrences. 

The 95th percentile queue is a useful parameter for determining the appropriate length of turn pockets 

but is not typical of what the average driver would experience. 

Intersection Operational Analysis 

For intersections under minor street stop-control, the LOS of the most difficult movement (typically the 

minor street left-turn) represents the intersection Level of Service for purposes of assessing potential 

impacts. For traffic signals and roundabouts, the intersection average delay is used to assess potential 

impacts. The following table shows the Level of Service criteria for stop-controlled and roundabout 

intersections and for signalized intersections. 

Table 2. Level of Service Criteria for Intersections 

Level of 
Service 

Signalized Intersection Average 
Control Delay (seconds/vehicle) 

Stop-Controlled Intersection Average 
Control Delay (seconds/vehicle) 

A ≤ 10 ≤ 10 

B > 10-20 > 10-15 

C > 20-35 > 15-25 

D > 35-55 > 25-35 

E > 55-80 > 35-50 

F > 80 > 50 

The existing 2024, 2025 opening year and 2044 design year operational analysis results with existing 
signal timings and channelization are provided in Table 3. The operational analysis capacity worksheets 
are attached. 

Table 3. Existing Intersection Conditions Operational Analysis Summary 

Approach 

Existing 2024 Opening Year (2025) Design Year (2044) 

LOS 
(delay) 

Worst 95th 
Percentile 

Queue 
(movement) 

LOS 
(delay) 

Worst 95th 
Percentile Queue 

(movement) 
LOS 

(delay) 

Worst 95th 
Percentile Queue 

(movement) 

EB B (10.4) 121’ (thru) B (19.2) 252’ (thru) F (92.9) 500’ (thru) 

WB B (11.2) 192’ (thru) B (19.2) 254’ (thru) D (37.4) 720’ (thru) 

NB B (12.5) 105’ (thru) C (20.8) 517’ (thru) F (187.2) 685’ (thru) 

SB B (13.0) 221’ (thru) C (22.7) 412’ (thru) E (73.4) 775’ (thru) 

Intersection B (11.6)  C (20.5)  F (91.8)  



March 13, 2024 
Page 9 of 12 

 

 

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd intersection currently operates at LOS B. With the addition of 

background growth and pipeline development traffic, the intersection is projected to operate at LOS C 

during the 2025 opening year which is within the City of Shelton standards. During the 2044 design year, 

this intersection is projected to operate at LOS Fand is projected to generate multiple 95th percentile 

queues in excess of 650 feet.  

An initial evaluation of the intersection was done using the existing channelization and changing the 

signal timings to provide protection for the left-turn movements. This change does not result in a 

meaningful improvement. The minimum improvements needed to accommodate the projected 2044 

PM peak hour volumes are, in addition to the left turn timing adjustments, a 2nd westbound through 

lane and a 100-foot southbound to westbound right-turn pocket were added. The 2nd westbound 

through lane was assumed to pick up where the current 2nd eastbound through lane tapers down to 

one, approximately 200 feet east of Shelton Springs Road. In summary, the improvement package 

includes the following elements: 

• Change from permissive to protected for each left turn movement 

• Construction of a second westbound through lane 

• Construction of a southbound right turn pocket 

With this package of improvements, the intersection is projected to operate at a LOS D, which is within 

the city’s standard. However, there are still significant vehicle queues projected for the southbound 

approach of Shelton Springs Road. 

An additional improvement alternative was assessed that includes all of the improvements described 

above and the additional improvement of a 2nd southbound through lane. This lane is assumed to form 

approximately 200 feet before the intersection. The terminus of the lane was not determined and would 

warrant further study. 

The operational results are provided in Table 4. 

Table 4. 2044 Operational Analysis Summary  

Approach 

Existing Channelization With Improvements 
With Improvements and 2nd 

SB Through Lane 

LOS 
(delay) 

Worst 95th 
Percentile Queue 

(movement) 
LOS 

(delay) 

Worst 95th 
Percentile Queue 

(movement) 
LOS 

(delay) 

Worst 95th 
Percentile Queue 

(movement) 

EB F (92.9) 500’ (thru) C (30.9) 275’ (thru) C (28.2) 238’ (thru) 

WB D (37.4) 720’ (thru) D (43.0) 260’ (thru) D (38.7) 267’ (thru) 

NB F (187.2) 685’ (thru) D (39.1) 380’ (thru) D (38.3) 368’ (thru) 

SB E (73.4) 775’ (thru) D (43.9) 875’ (thru) D (37.3) 271’ (thru) 

Intersection F (91.8)  D (38.6)  C (34.9)  

 

  



March 13, 2024 
Page 10 of 12 

 

 

Sensitivity Analysis 

In addition to assessing the existing control at each intersection for the existing year and long term 2044 

horizon, a sensitivity analysis was performed to determine what additional improvements may be 

needed upon full build out of the adjacent Olympic Heights project. In total this project intends to 

construct: 

• 1,255 single family dwelling units 

• 460 apartment units 

• New elementary school 

Based on the trip generation provided by the development as part of an evaluation of the Shelton 

Springs Rd/Alpine Way at 13th St intersection, the full build out traffic volumes for the project have been 

added to the 2044 volume forecast. With the addition of these trips the improvement package 

described above will fall to LOS F, with multiple approaches experiences significant vehicle queues. To 

mitigate the intersection two additional improvements were identified: 

• Construction of an eastbound right turn pocket 

• Construction of a 2nd northbound left turn pocket 

Both of these improvements specifically accommodate the volumes associated with the project. With 

these additional improvements the intersection is projected to operate at LOS D. However, there are 

still significant vehicle queues projected for the southbound approach of Shelton Springs Road. Similar 

to the baseline 2044 volume forecast, an additional alternative was evaluated that includes a second 

southbound lane on Shelton Springs Road. This lane is assumed to form approximately 200 feet before 

the intersection. The terminus of the lane was not determined and would warrant further study. 

The operational results are provided in Table 5. 

Table 5. 2044 Sensitivity Operational Analysis Summary  

Approach 

With Initial Improvements 
With Additional 
Improvements 

With Additional 
Improvements and 2nd SB 

Through Lane 

LOS 
(delay) 

Worst 95th 
Percentile Queue 

(movement) 
LOS 

(delay) 

Worst 95th 
Percentile Queue 

(movement) 
LOS 

(delay) 

Worst 95th 
Percentile Queue 

(movement) 

EB F (108.6) 450’ (thru) C (30.9) 428’ (thru) C (24.5) 301’ (thru) 

WB E (70.6) 343’ (thru) D (52.1) 281’ (thru) D (37.4) 262’ (thru) 

NB E (62.3) 807’ (thru) D (43.7) 411’ (thru) D (39.3) 375’ (thru) 

SB E (77.4) 727’ (thru) D (50.2) 835’ (thru) C (31.5) 297’ (thru) 

Intersection F (84.3)  D (42.6)  C (32.3)  

 

  



March 13, 2024 
Page 11 of 12 

 

 

Operations Analysis Summary 

Based on the forecasted 2044 PM peak hour volumes multiple intersection improvements will be 

needed to maintain an acceptable performance level at the intersection. The identified package of 

improvements includes: 

• Change from permissive to protected for each left turn movement 

• Construction of a second westbound through lane 

• Construction of a southbound right turn pocket 

Additional improvements to improve the projected vehicle queues on southbound Shelton Springs Road 

should be further evaluated as traffic volume increase. 

The implications of full build out of the nearby Olympic Heights project was also evaluated. Based on the 

current 2044 volume forecasts two additional improvements have been identified: 

• Construction of an eastbound right turn pocket 

• Construction of a 2nd northbound left turn pocket 

As additional phases of the Olympic Heights project advance the development will be responsible for 

providing operational analysis of the immediate area, including this intersection. Those future studies 

will identify if and when additional improvements are needed at the intersection. 

Cost Estimate  

To support the city’s efforts to proceed with intersection improvements an updated cost estimate has 

been prepared. The cost estimate includes the three intersection improvements described above, which 

are: 

• Change from permissive to protected for each left turn movement 

• Construction of a second westbound through lane 

• Construction of a southbound right turn pocket 

The cost estimate for these improvements is approximately $1,530,000. A detailed breakdown of the 

cost estimate calculations is attached. 

 

  



March 13, 2024 
Page 12 of 12 

 

 

Recommendation 

The City of Shelton was awarded Transportation Improvement Board (TIB) grant money to implement 

intersection improvements at the Wallace Kneeland Boulevard and Shelton Springs Road intersection. 

This intersection currently operates under traffic signal control. In the 2044 design year this control is 

projected to operate at LOS F during the afternoon peak hour. A set of improvements has been 

identified to maintain an acceptable performance level, which includes:  

• Change from permissive to protected for each left turn movement 

• Construction of a second westbound through lane 

• Construction of a southbound right turn pocket 

These improvements should be advanced to design. Additional improvements have been evaluated to 
further improve the projected vehicle queues and to accommodate the full build out of the nearby 
Olympic Heights development. These additional improvements should be studied further as traffic 
volume growth occurs. 
 
SCJ Alliance 
 
 

Prepared by Ryan Shea, PTP, Senior Transportation Planner 

Attachments: 

Existing Traffic Counts 

PM Volume Calculations  

Operation Analysis Worksheets 

Cost Estimate Calculations 

N:\Projects\0615 City of Shelton\23-001192 Wallace Kneeland-Shelton Springs Traffic\Traffic\03 - Dels\2024-0313 Wallace Kneeland Traffic Memo.docx 



Prepared for: SCJ Alliance

      Traffic Count Consultants, Inc.

 Phone: (253) 770-1407     FAX: (253) 770-1411   E-Mail:  Team@TC2inc.com

WBE/DBE

Intersection: N Shelton Springs Rd & Wallace-Kneeland Blvd Date of Count: Tue 01/09/2024

Location: Shelton, Washington Checked By: Jen

Time From North on (SB) From South on (NB) From East on (WB) From West on (EB) Interval
Interval N Shelton Springs Rd N Shelton Springs Rd Wallace-Kneeland Blvd Wallace-Kneeland Blvd Total

Ending at T L S R T L S R T L S R T L S R

7:15 A 4 6 25 17 2 2 36 0 12 0 80 27 1 17 19 12 241

7:30 A 5 7 35 33 13 9 91 0 5 0 86 42 4 13 31 8 355

7:45 A 18 26 96 36 4 11 98 0 7 2 77 47 7 18 49 9 469

8:00 A 2 12 72 25 7 9 61 0 6 0 79 25 5 14 55 21 373

8:15 A 7 6 31 16 1 11 32 2 9 1 88 13 3 11 42 13 266

8:30 A 2 5 18 10 0 10 16 0 2 0 72 10 2 9 31 11 192

8:45 A 1 4 33 19 6 8 28 1 6 1 75 17 2 11 48 17 262

9:00 A 3 10 42 16 12 7 39 0 6 0 71 14 6 14 39 11 263

9:15 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

9:30 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

9:45 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

10:00 A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total

Survey 42 76 352 172 45 67 401 3 53 4 628 195 30 107 314 102 2421

Peak Hour: 7:15 AM to 8:15 AM

Total 32 51 234 110 25 40 282 2 27 3 330 127 19 56 177 51 1463

Approach 395 324 460 284 1463

%HV 8.1% 7.7% 5.9% 6.7% 7.0%

PHF 0.63 0.74 0.90 0.79 0.78

N Shelton Springs Rd

860

395 465

0 Bike

Wallace-Kneeland Blvd 110 234 51 2 Ped Wallace-Kneeland Blvd
127

480 Ped 3 330 460

Bike 0 3 690

764 56 0 Bike

284 177 7:15 AM to 8:15 AM 0 Ped 230

51
PEDs 

Across: N S E W Ped 0 40 282 2 1876  1.0 PHF Peak Hour Volume

INT 01 0 0 0 0 0 Bike 0 PHF %HV

INT 02 1 0 0 1 2 EB 0.79 6.7%

INT 03 0 0 0 0 0 288 324 Check WB 0.90 5.9%

INT 04 0 0 0 0 0    In: 1463 NB 0.74 7.7%

INT 05 1 0 0 2 3 612 Out: 1463 SB 0.63 8.1%

INT 06 0 0 0 2 2 N Shelton Springs Rd T Int. 0.78 7.0%

INT 07 0 0 0 0 0 Bicycles From: N S E W Conditions:
INT 08 0 1 0 0 1 INT 01 0
INT 09 0 INT 02 0
INT 10 0 INT 03 0
INT 11 0 INT 04 0
INT 12 0 INT 05 0

2 1 0 5 8 INT 06 0
Special Notes INT 07 0

INT 08 0
INT 09 0
INT 10 0
INT 11 0
INT 12 0

0 0 0 0 0

SCJ24006M_01A



Prepared for: SCJ Alliance

      Traffic Count Consultants, Inc.

 Phone: (253) 770-1407     FAX: (253) 770-1411   E-Mail:  Team@TC2inc.com

WBE/DBE

Intersection: N Shelton Springs Rd & Wallace-Kneeland Blvd Date of Count: Tue 01/09/2024

Location: Shelton, Washington Checked By: Jen

Time From North on (SB) From South on (NB) From East on (WB) From West on (EB) Interval
Interval N Shelton Springs Rd N Shelton Springs Rd Wallace-Kneeland Blvd Wallace-Kneeland Blvd Total

Ending at T L S R T L S R T L S R T L S R

2:15 P 5 15 21 16 5 22 37 1 3 0 64 14 2 24 73 37 324

2:30 P 3 10 59 38 6 20 65 3 6 2 83 26 6 28 79 29 442

2:45 P 24 20 77 47 1 16 46 4 2 1 96 17 1 31 74 38 467

3:00 P 2 15 41 61 6 28 35 38 2 2 98 13 4 16 96 36 479

3:15 P 5 12 33 37 0 14 23 7 3 2 82 10 2 16 87 30 353

3:30 P 8 13 38 32 3 18 31 34 4 4 75 15 2 28 84 42 414

3:45 P 4 15 32 28 2 22 28 38 3 2 91 8 2 32 104 27 427

4:00 P 1 9 29 20 1 25 47 1 4 0 88 18 3 21 110 34 402

4:15 P 1 8 31 26 2 29 28 0 4 2 79 19 0 26 101 21 370

4:30 P 2 8 31 27 3 20 37 1 10 0 97 17 1 31 117 40 426

4:45 P 1 9 33 27 2 23 35 2 6 0 83 14 5 33 89 31 379

5:00 P 1 11 21 31 2 26 31 0 3 0 77 11 3 39 94 25 366

Total

Survey 57 145 446 390 33 263 443 129 50 15 1013 182 31 325 1108 390 4849

Peak Hour: 2:15 PM to 3:15 PM

Total 34 57 210 183 13 78 169 52 13 7 359 66 13 91 336 133 1741

Approach 450 299 432 560 1741

%HV 7.6% 4.3% 3.0% 2.3% 4.2%

PHF 0.78 0.74 0.95 0.95 0.91

N Shelton Springs Rd

776

450 326

0 Bike

Wallace-Kneeland Blvd 183 210 57 3 Ped Wallace-Kneeland Blvd
66

620 Ped 6 359 432

Bike 0 7 877

1180 91 0 Bike

560 336 2:15 PM to 3:15 PM 0 Ped 445

133
PEDs 

Across: N S E W Ped 4 78 169 52 1916  1.0 PHF Peak Hour Volume

INT 01 0 0 0 0 0 Bike 0 PHF %HV

INT 02 0 0 0 2 2 EB 0.95 2.3%

INT 03 0 3 0 3 6 350 299 Check WB 0.95 3.0%

INT 04 3 1 0 1 5    In: 1741 NB 0.74 4.3%

INT 05 0 0 0 0 0 649 Out: 1741 SB 0.78 7.6%

INT 06 0 0 0 0 0 N Shelton Springs Rd T Int. 0.91 4.2%

INT 07 0 0 0 0 0 Bicycles From: N S E W Conditions:
INT 08 0 0 0 0 0 INT 01 0 0 0 0 0
INT 09 0 0 0 0 0 INT 02 0 0 0 0 0
INT 10 0 0 0 0 0 INT 03 0 0 0 0 0
INT 11 0 0 0 0 0 INT 04 0 0 0 0 0
INT 12 0 0 0 0 0 INT 05 0 0 0 0 0

3 4 0 6 13 INT 06 0 0 0 0 0
Special Notes INT 07 0 0 0 0 0

INT 08 0 0 0 0 0
INT 09 0 0 0 0 0
INT 10 1 0 0 1 2
INT 11 0 0 0 0 0
INT 12 0 0 0 0 0

1 0 0 1 2

SCJ24006M_01P-1



Prepared for: SCJ Alliance

      Traffic Count Consultants, Inc.

 Phone: (253) 770-1407     FAX: (253) 770-1411   E-Mail:  Team@TC2inc.com

WBE/DBE

Intersection: N Shelton Springs Rd & Wallace-Kneeland Blvd Date of Count: Tue 01/09/2024

Location: Shelton, Washington Checked By: Jen

Time From North on (SB) From South on (NB) From East on (WB) From West on (EB) Interval
Interval N Shelton Springs Rd N Shelton Springs Rd Wallace-Kneeland Blvd Wallace-Kneeland Blvd Total

Ending at T L S R T L S R T L S R T L S R

3:15 P 5 12 33 37 0 14 23 7 3 2 82 10 2 16 87 30 353

3:30 P 8 13 38 32 3 18 31 34 4 4 75 15 2 28 84 42 414

3:45 P 4 15 32 28 2 22 28 38 3 2 91 8 2 32 104 27 427

4:00 P 1 9 29 20 1 25 47 1 4 0 88 18 3 21 110 34 402

4:15 P 1 8 31 26 2 29 28 0 4 2 79 19 0 26 101 21 370

4:30 P 2 8 31 27 3 20 37 1 10 0 97 17 1 31 117 40 426

4:45 P 1 9 33 27 2 23 35 2 6 0 83 14 5 33 89 31 379

5:00 P 1 11 21 31 2 26 31 0 3 0 77 11 3 39 94 25 366

5:15 P 3 20 27 33 2 28 33 0 1 1 88 10 4 25 113 28 406

5:30 P 2 9 34 23 0 23 31 1 0 2 70 11 2 26 102 27 359

5:45 P 1 7 27 25 0 14 33 0 3 0 84 12 3 33 100 21 356

6:00 P 0 4 27 21 1 16 33 0 1 1 79 7 1 29 87 36 340

Total

Survey 29 125 363 330 18 258 390 84 42 14 993 152 28 339 1188 362 4598

Peak Hour: 3:30 PM to 4:30 PM

Total 8 40 123 101 8 96 140 40 21 4 355 62 6 110 432 122 1625

Approach 264 276 421 664 1625

%HV 3.0% 2.9% 5.0% 0.9% 2.6%

PHF 0.88 0.78 0.92 0.88 0.95

N Shelton Springs Rd

576

264 312

1 Bike

Wallace-Kneeland Blvd 101 123 40 0 Ped Wallace-Kneeland Blvd
62

552 Ped 0 355 421

Bike 1 4 933

1216 110 0 Bike

664 432 3:30 PM to 4:30 PM 0 Ped 512

122
PEDs 

Across: N S E W Ped 0 96 140 40 1708  1.0 PHF Peak Hour Volume

INT 01 0 0 0 0 0 Bike 0 PHF %HV

INT 02 0 0 0 0 0 EB 0.88 0.9%

INT 03 0 0 0 0 0 249 276 Check WB 0.92 5.0%

INT 04 0 0 0 0 0    In: 1625 NB 0.78 2.9%

INT 05 0 0 0 0 0 525 Out: 1625 SB 0.88 3.0%

INT 06 0 0 0 0 0 N Shelton Springs Rd T Int. 0.95 2.6%

INT 07 0 0 0 0 0 Bicycles From: N S E W Conditions:
INT 08 0 0 0 0 0 INT 01 0 0 0 0 0
INT 09 0 0 0 0 0 INT 02 0 0 0 0 0
INT 10 0 0 0 0 0 INT 03 0 0 0 0 0
INT 11 0 0 0 0 0 INT 04 0 0 0 0 0
INT 12 0 0 0 1 1 INT 05 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 1 1 INT 06 1 0 0 1 2
Special Notes INT 07 0 0 0 0 0

INT 08 0 0 0 0 0
INT 09 0 0 0 0 0
INT 10 0 0 0 0 0
INT 11 0 0 0 0 0
INT 12 0 0 0 0 0

1 0 0 1 2

SCJ24006M_01P-2



Traffic Volume Calculation Worksheet
Wallace Kneeland Boulevard/Shelton Springs RD Intersection Study
PM Peak Hour Volumes

Growth Rate: 3.00%
Full Build Adjustment Rate: 16%

Existing Proposed Olympic Total Background Opening Background Future Sensitivity Sensitivity
Intersection 2024 Housing  Heights  Development 2025 2025 2044 2044 2044

Volumes Trips Trips Volumes Growth Volumes Growth Volumes Pipeline Volumes

L 91 56 0 56 3 150 53 203 0 203

EB T 336 0 0 0 10 346 197 543 0 543

R 133 0 60 60 4 197 78 275 375 650

1 L 7 0 0 0 0 7 4 11 0 11

Wallace Kneeland Blvd WB T 359 0 0 0 11 370 211 581 0 581

Shelton Springs Road   R 66 24 0 24 2 92 39 131 0 131

L 78 0 35 35 2 115 46 161 219 380

TMC Date: 01/09/2024 NB T 169 120 4 124 5 298 99 397 25 422

R 5 0 0 0 0 5 3 8 0 8

Peak Hour: 2:15 ‐ 3:15 L 57 16 0 16 2 75 33 108 0 108

PHF: 0.91 SB T 210 72 6 78 6 294 123 418 38 455

R 185 32 0 32 6 223 109 331 0 331

1,696 105 425 51 2,172 996 3,168 656 3,824

Movement

Pipeline Volumes



Project Name: Wallace-Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Traffic Signal

Client Name: SCJ Alliance Total Budget hidden

SCJ Project No.: 23-001192 $100,000

Estimate Level: Concept Remaining Funds

Date: 3/12/2024 -$1,427,856

BID ITEM 

NO.

WSDOT STD 

ITEM NO.
ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT  UNIT PRICE 

TOTAL         

QUANTITY

Schedule A

 Roadway
TOTAL

PREPARATION

1 0001 MOBILIZATION L.S. 100,000.00$       1.0 1.0 100,000$                          

2 0035 CLEARING AND GRUBBING L.S. 10,000.00$         1.0 1.0 10,000$                            

3 0050 REMOVAL OF STRUCTURES AND OBSTRUCTIONS L.S. 5,000.00$           1.0 1.0 5,000$                              

4 0215 REMOVING MISCELLANEOUS TRAFFIC ITEM L.S. 2,500.00$           1.0 1.0 2,500$                              

Subtotal: $117,500 117,500$                          

GRADING

5 0310 ROADWAY EXCAVATION INCL. HAUL C.Y. 40.00$                760.0 760.0 30,400$                            

6 0470 EMBANKMENT COMPACTION C.Y. 20.00$                190.0 190.0 3,800$                              

7 NS-150 POND EXCAVATION C.Y. 35.00$                315.0 315.0 11,025$                            

Subtotal: $45,225 45,225$                            

STORM SEWER

8 3091 CATCH BASIN TYPE 1 EACH 2,000.00$           6.0 6.0 12,000$                            

9 3105 CATCH BASIN TYPE 2 48 IN. DIAM. EACH 5,000.00$           1.0 1.0 5,000$                              

10 3541 SCHEDULE A STORM SEWER PIPE 12 IN. DIAM. L.F. 75.00$                850.0 850.0 63,750$                            

Subtotal: $80,750 80,750$                            

SURFACING

11 5100 CRUSHED SURFACING BASE COURSE TON 35.00$                830.0 830.0 29,050$                            

Subtotal: $29,050 29,050$                            

HOT MIX ASPHALT

12 5767 HMA CL. 1/2 IN. PG 58H-22 TON 150.00$              750.0 750.0 112,500$                          

Subtotal: $112,500 112,500$                          

EROSION CONTROL AND ROADSIDE PLANTING

13 6488 EROSION CONTROL AND WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION L.S. 20,000.00$         1.0 1.0 20,000$                            

14 6391 TOPSOIL TYPE A S.Y. 30.00$                230.0 230.0 6,900$                              

Subtotal: $26,900 26,900$                            

TRAFFIC

15 6807 PLASTIC LINE L.F. 5.00$                  1500.0 1500.0 7,500$                              

16 6857 PLASTIC CROSSWALK LINE S.F. 11.00$                440.0 440.0 4,840$                              

17 6859 PLASTIC STOP LINE L.F. 22.00$                60.0 60.0 1,320$                              

18 6833 PLASTIC TRAFFIC ARROW EACH 500.00$              2.0 2.0 1,000$                              

19 6890 PERMANENT SIGNING L.S. 3,000.00$           1.0 1.0 3,000$                              

20 6904 ILLUMINATION SYSTEM L.S. 105,000.00$       1.0 1.0 105,000$                          

21 6912 TRAFFIC SIGNAL SYSTEM L.S. 300,000.00$       1.0 1.0 300,000$                          

22 6971 PROJECT TEMPORARY TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. 100,000.00$       1.0 1.0 100,000$                          

Subtotal: $522,660 522,660$                          

OTHER ITEMS

23 7055 CEMENT CONC. SIDEWALK S.Y. 105.00$              640.0 640.0 67,200$                            

24 7058 CEMENT CONC. CURB RAMP TYPE PARALLEL A EACH 2,500.00$           8.0 8.0 20,000$                            

25 NS-892 ADA FEATURES SURVEYING L.S. 5,000.00$           1.0 1.0 5,000$                              

Subtotal: $92,200 92,200$                            

Subtotal Subtotal Subtotal Construction: $1,026,785 1,026,785$                   

Contingency Contingency  @  20% Contingency  @  20% $205,357 205,357$                      

TOTAL CONSTRUCTION: $1,232,142 1,232,142$                

PE PE Costs Preliminary Engineering (PE) @ 12% $147,857 147,857$                      

CM CM Costs @ 12% Construction Management (CM) @ 12% $147,857 147,857$                      

SCHEDULE COST TOTALS: $1,527,856 1,527,856$                

TOTAL PROJECT COST: 1,527,856$            



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Existing 2024
1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak Hour

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Synchro 12 Report
SCJ Alliance Page 1

Lane Group SEL SET NWL NWT NEL NET SWL SWT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 55 210 80 170 90 335 5 360
Future Volume (vph) 55 210 80 170 90 335 5 360
Turn Type Perm NA Perm NA Perm NA Perm NA
Protected Phases 8 4 2 6
Permitted Phases 8 4 2 6
Detector Phase 8 8 4 4 2 2 6 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 27.5 27.5 27.5 27.5 24.5 24.5 24.5 24.5
Total Split (s) 40.0 40.0 40.0 40.0 40.0 40.0 40.0 40.0
Total Split (%) 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0%
Maximum Green (s) 35.5 35.5 35.5 35.5 35.5 35.5 35.5 35.5
Yellow Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Lead/Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize?
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Minimum Gap (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Time Before Reduce (s) 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0
Time To Reduce (s) 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0
Recall Mode None None None None Min Min Min Min
Walk Time (s) 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0
Flash Dont Walk (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 12.0 12.0 12.0 12.0
Pedestrian Calls (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 80
Actuated Cycle Length: 44.2
Natural Cycle: 55
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated

Splits and Phases:     1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd



HCM 7th Signalized Intersection Summary Existing 2024
1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak Hour

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Synchro 12 Report
SCJ Alliance Page 2

Movement SEL SET SER NWL NWT NWR NEL NET NER SWL SWT SWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 55 210 185 80 170 5 90 335 135 5 360 65
Future Volume (veh/h) 55 210 185 80 170 5 90 335 135 5 360 65
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lane Width Adj. 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1781 1781 1781 1841 1841 1841 1870 1870 1870 1856 1856 1856
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 60 231 203 88 187 5 99 368 148 5 396 71
Peak Hour Factor 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Percent Heavy Veh, % 8 8 8 4 4 4 2 2 2 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 510 335 295 309 684 18 359 1044 414 436 643 115
Arrive On Green 0.38 0.38 0.38 0.38 0.38 0.38 0.42 0.42 0.42 0.42 0.42 0.42
Sat Flow, veh/h 1134 875 769 939 1784 48 926 2485 985 878 1532 275
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 60 0 434 88 0 192 99 262 254 5 0 467
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1134 0 1643 939 0 1832 926 1777 1693 878 0 1806
Q Serve(g_s), s 1.8 0.0 10.1 4.0 0.0 3.3 4.3 4.6 4.7 0.2 0.0 9.3
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 5.1 0.0 10.1 14.1 0.0 3.3 13.5 4.6 4.7 4.9 0.0 9.3
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.47 1.00 0.03 1.00 0.58 1.00 0.15
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 510 0 630 309 0 702 359 746 711 436 0 759
V/C Ratio(X) 0.12 0.00 0.69 0.28 0.00 0.27 0.28 0.35 0.36 0.01 0.00 0.62
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 955 0 1274 678 0 1421 688 1378 1313 748 0 1401
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 11.5 0.0 11.8 17.7 0.0 9.7 15.7 9.0 9.1 10.7 0.0 10.4
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.1 0.0 1.4 0.5 0.0 0.2 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.8
Initial Q Delay(d3), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 0.4 0.0 3.2 0.8 0.0 1.1 0.8 1.4 1.4 0.0 0.0 3.0
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d), s/veh 11.6 0.0 13.2 18.2 0.0 9.9 16.1 9.3 9.4 10.7 0.0 11.2
LnGrp LOS B B B A B A A B B
Approach Vol, veh/h 494 280 615 472
Approach Delay, s/veh 13.0 12.5 10.4 11.2
Approach LOS B B B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 23.7 22.0 23.7 22.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 35.5 35.5 35.5 35.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 15.5 16.1 11.3 12.1
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 3.7 1.4 3.2 3.2

Intersection Summary
HCM 7th Control Delay, s/veh 11.6
HCM 7th LOS B



Queuing and Blocking Report
Existing 2024 02/28/2024

Scenario 1 Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd SimTraffic Report
SCJ Alliance Page 1

Intersection: 1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd

Movement SE SE NW NW NE NE NE SW SW
Directions Served L TR L TR L T TR L TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 100 258 120 126 107 136 112 27 222
Average Queue (ft) 36 124 47 60 46 71 46 2 110
95th Queue (ft) 86 221 92 105 84 121 90 13 192
Link Distance (ft) 689 646 391 391 622
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 75 225 175 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 1 17 0 2
Queuing Penalty (veh) 2 9 0 0

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 11



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Projected 2025
1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak Hour

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Synchro 12 Report
SCJ Alliance Page 1

Lane Group SEL SET NWL NWT NEL NET SWL SWT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 75 295 115 300 150 345 5 370
Future Volume (vph) 75 295 115 300 150 345 5 370
Turn Type Perm NA Perm NA Perm NA Perm NA
Protected Phases 8 4 2 6
Permitted Phases 8 4 2 6
Detector Phase 8 8 4 4 2 2 6 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 27.5 27.5 27.5 27.5 24.5 24.5 24.5 24.5
Total Split (s) 40.0 40.0 40.0 40.0 40.0 40.0 40.0 40.0
Total Split (%) 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0% 50.0%
Maximum Green (s) 35.5 35.5 35.5 35.5 35.5 35.5 35.5 35.5
Yellow Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Lead/Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize?
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Minimum Gap (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Time Before Reduce (s) 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0
Time To Reduce (s) 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0
Recall Mode None None None None Min Min Min Min
Walk Time (s) 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0
Flash Dont Walk (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 12.0 12.0 12.0 12.0
Pedestrian Calls (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 80
Actuated Cycle Length: 58.5
Natural Cycle: 55
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated

Splits and Phases:     1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd



HCM 7th Signalized Intersection Summary Projected 2025
1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak Hour

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Synchro 12 Report
SCJ Alliance Page 2

Movement SEL SET SER NWL NWT NWR NEL NET NER SWL SWT SWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 75 295 225 115 300 5 150 345 195 5 370 90
Future Volume (veh/h) 75 295 225 115 300 5 150 345 195 5 370 90
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lane Width Adj. 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1781 1781 1781 1841 1841 1841 1870 1870 1870 1856 1856 1856
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 82 324 247 126 330 5 165 379 214 5 407 99
Peak Hour Factor 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Percent Heavy Veh, % 8 8 8 4 4 4 2 2 2 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 416 422 321 223 813 12 283 961 535 351 629 153
Arrive On Green 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.44 0.44 0.44 0.44 0.44 0.44
Sat Flow, veh/h 996 938 715 828 1808 27 893 2202 1225 818 1442 351
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 82 0 571 126 0 335 165 305 288 5 0 506
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 996 0 1653 828 0 1836 893 1777 1650 818 0 1792
Q Serve(g_s), s 4.8 0.0 22.9 11.9 0.0 9.7 14.1 9.2 9.4 0.3 0.0 17.5
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 14.5 0.0 22.9 34.9 0.0 9.7 31.6 9.2 9.4 9.8 0.0 17.5
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.43 1.00 0.01 1.00 0.74 1.00 0.20
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 416 0 743 223 0 825 283 776 720 351 0 782
V/C Ratio(X) 0.20 0.00 0.77 0.57 0.00 0.41 0.58 0.39 0.40 0.01 0.00 0.65
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 416 0 743 223 0 825 295 799 742 361 0 806
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 19.5 0.0 18.3 32.9 0.0 14.6 29.9 15.1 15.2 18.5 0.0 17.5
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.2 0.0 4.9 3.3 0.0 0.3 2.7 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.0 1.7
Initial Q Delay(d3), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 1.1 0.0 9.0 2.5 0.0 3.8 3.1 3.5 3.4 0.1 0.0 7.1
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d), s/veh 19.7 0.0 23.2 36.3 0.0 15.0 32.6 15.5 15.6 18.5 0.0 19.2
LnGrp LOS B C D B C B B B B
Approach Vol, veh/h 653 461 758 511
Approach Delay, s/veh 22.7 20.8 19.2 19.2
Approach LOS C C B B

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 39.0 40.0 39.0 40.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 35.5 35.5 35.5 35.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 33.6 36.9 19.5 24.9
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.9 0.0 3.1 3.2

Intersection Summary
HCM 7th Control Delay, s/veh 20.5
HCM 7th LOS C



Queuing and Blocking Report
Projected 2025 02/28/2024

Scenario 1 Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd SimTraffic Report
SCJ Alliance Page 1

Intersection: 1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd

Movement SE SE NW NW NE NE NE SW SW
Directions Served L TR L TR L T TR L TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 100 454 233 397 185 266 269 27 312
Average Queue (ft) 47 230 133 198 111 115 90 3 156
95th Queue (ft) 105 412 263 517 196 252 198 16 254
Link Distance (ft) 689 646 391 391 622
Upstream Blk Time (%) 0 7 1 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 0 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 75 225 175 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 4 36 20 1 11 0 8
Queuing Penalty (veh) 20 27 60 1 19 0 0

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 127



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Projected 2044
1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak Hour

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Synchro 12 Report
SCJ Alliance Page 1

Lane Group SEL SET NWL NWT NEL NET SWL SWT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 110 420 160 395 205 545 10 580
Future Volume (vph) 110 420 160 395 205 545 10 580
Turn Type Perm NA Perm NA Perm NA Perm NA
Protected Phases 8 4 2 6
Permitted Phases 8 4 2 6
Detector Phase 8 8 4 4 2 2 6 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 27.5 27.5 27.5 27.5 24.5 24.5 24.5 24.5
Total Split (s) 46.0 46.0 46.0 46.0 47.1 47.1 47.1 47.1
Total Split (%) 49.4% 49.4% 49.4% 49.4% 50.6% 50.6% 50.6% 50.6%
Maximum Green (s) 41.5 41.5 41.5 41.5 42.6 42.6 42.6 42.6
Yellow Time (s) 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Lead/Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize?
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Minimum Gap (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Time Before Reduce (s) 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0
Time To Reduce (s) 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0
Recall Mode None None None None Min Min Min Min
Walk Time (s) 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0
Flash Dont Walk (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 15.0 12.0 12.0 12.0 12.0
Pedestrian Calls (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 93.1
Actuated Cycle Length: 93.1
Natural Cycle: 55
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated

Splits and Phases:     1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd



HCM 7th Signalized Intersection Summary Projected 2044
1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak Hour

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Synchro 12 Report
SCJ Alliance Page 2

Movement SEL SET SER NWL NWT NWR NEL NET NER SWL SWT SWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 110 420 330 160 395 10 205 545 275 10 580 130
Future Volume (veh/h) 110 420 330 160 395 10 205 545 275 10 580 130
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lane Width Adj. 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1781 1781 1781 1841 1841 1841 1870 1870 1870 1856 1856 1856
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 116 442 347 168 416 11 216 574 289 11 611 137
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 8 8 8 4 4 4 2 2 2 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 331 412 324 77 796 21 128 1047 527 253 671 151
Arrive On Green 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.45 0.46 0.46 0.46 0.46 0.46 0.46
Sat Flow, veh/h 915 925 726 676 1785 47 713 2289 1151 636 1467 329
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 116 0 789 168 0 427 216 445 418 11 0 748
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 915 0 1651 676 0 1832 713 1777 1663 636 0 1796
Q Serve(g_s), s 9.8 0.0 41.5 0.0 0.0 15.7 6.6 16.9 16.9 1.2 0.0 36.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 25.4 0.0 41.5 41.5 0.0 15.7 42.6 16.9 16.9 18.1 0.0 36.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 0.44 1.00 0.03 1.00 0.69 1.00 0.18
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 331 0 736 77 0 817 128 813 761 253 0 822
V/C Ratio(X) 0.35 0.00 1.07 2.17 0.00 0.52 1.69 0.55 0.55 0.04 0.00 0.91
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 331 0 736 77 0 817 128 813 761 253 0 822
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 27.8 0.0 25.8 46.5 0.0 18.6 45.3 18.3 18.3 24.8 0.0 23.5
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 0.6 0.0 54.3 567.6 0.0 0.6 342.7 0.8 0.8 0.1 0.0 14.1
Initial Q Delay(d3), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 2.2 0.0 26.3 14.0 0.0 6.5 15.1 6.8 6.4 0.2 0.0 17.5
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d), s/veh 28.5 0.0 80.1 614.2 0.0 19.3 387.9 19.1 19.1 24.9 0.0 37.6
LnGrp LOS C F F B F B B C D
Approach Vol, veh/h 905 595 1079 759
Approach Delay, s/veh 73.4 187.2 92.9 37.4
Approach LOS E F F D

Timer - Assigned Phs 2 4 6 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 47.1 46.0 47.1 46.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 42.6 41.5 42.6 41.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 44.6 43.5 38.0 43.5
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 0.0 2.2 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 7th Control Delay, s/veh 91.8
HCM 7th LOS F



Queuing and Blocking Report
Projected 2044 02/28/2024

Scenario 1 Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd SimTraffic Report
SCJ Alliance Page 1

Intersection: 1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd

Movement SE SE NW NW NE NE NE SW SW
Directions Served L TR L TR L T TR L TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 100 750 250 694 200 418 420 144 625
Average Queue (ft) 61 717 246 662 196 403 223 10 441
95th Queue (ft) 128 773 259 684 205 418 498 67 718
Link Distance (ft) 689 646 391 391 622
Upstream Blk Time (%) 70 97 99 2 15
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 75 225 175 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 5 57 97 7 100 0 45
Queuing Penalty (veh) 35 63 393 12 272 1 5

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 780



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Projected 2044 with Improvements
1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak Hour

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Synchro 12 Report
SCJ Alliance Page 1

Lane Group SEL SET SER NWL NWT NEL NET SWL SWT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 110 420 330 160 395 205 545 10 580
Future Volume (vph) 110 420 330 160 395 205 545 10 580
Turn Type Prot NA Perm Prot NA Prot NA Prot NA
Protected Phases 3 8 7 4 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 8
Detector Phase 3 8 8 7 4 5 2 1 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 5.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 9.5 27.5 27.5 9.5 27.5 9.5 24.5 9.5 24.5
Total Split (s) 14.1 30.0 30.0 15.0 30.9 17.0 35.5 9.5 28.0
Total Split (%) 15.7% 33.3% 33.3% 16.7% 34.3% 18.9% 39.4% 10.6% 31.1%
Maximum Green (s) 9.6 25.5 25.5 10.5 26.4 12.5 31.0 5.0 23.5
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 4.0 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 1.0 0.5 0.5 1.0 0.5 1.0 0.5 1.0 0.5
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Minimum Gap (s) 3.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0
Time Before Reduce (s) 0.0 10.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 10.0
Time To Reduce (s) 0.0 10.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 10.0
Recall Mode None None None None None None Min None Min
Walk Time (s) 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0
Flash Dont Walk (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 12.0 12.0
Pedestrian Calls (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 90
Actuated Cycle Length: 86.9
Natural Cycle: 90
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated

Splits and Phases:     1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd



HCM 7th Signalized Intersection Summary Projected 2044 with Improvements
1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak Hour

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Synchro 12 Report
SCJ Alliance Page 2

Movement SEL SET SER NWL NWT NWR NEL NET NER SWL SWT SWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 110 420 330 160 395 10 205 545 275 10 580 130
Future Volume (veh/h) 110 420 330 160 395 10 205 545 275 10 580 130
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lane Width Adj. 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1781 1781 1781 1841 1841 1841 1870 1870 1870 1856 1856 1856
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 116 442 347 168 416 11 216 574 289 11 611 137
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 8 8 8 4 4 4 2 2 2 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 145 496 421 203 551 15 252 866 435 24 715 160
Arrive On Green 0.09 0.28 0.28 0.12 0.31 0.31 0.14 0.38 0.38 0.01 0.25 0.25
Sat Flow, veh/h 1697 1781 1510 1753 1785 47 1781 2289 1151 1767 2862 641
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 116 442 347 168 0 427 216 445 418 11 376 372
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1697 1781 1510 1753 0 1832 1781 1777 1663 1767 1763 1740
Q Serve(g_s), s 5.6 20.0 18.1 7.9 0.0 17.7 10.0 17.5 17.5 0.5 17.1 17.2
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 5.6 20.0 18.1 7.9 0.0 17.7 10.0 17.5 17.5 0.5 17.1 17.2
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.03 1.00 0.69 1.00 0.37
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 145 496 421 203 0 566 252 672 629 24 441 435
V/C Ratio(X) 0.80 0.89 0.82 0.83 0.00 0.75 0.86 0.66 0.66 0.46 0.85 0.86
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 194 540 458 219 0 575 265 672 629 105 493 486
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 37.7 29.1 28.4 36.4 0.0 26.2 35.2 21.7 21.7 41.2 30.1 30.1
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 15.8 15.9 11.0 21.5 0.0 5.5 22.3 2.4 2.6 13.3 12.5 12.9
Initial Q Delay(d3), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 2.9 10.4 7.6 4.5 0.0 8.3 5.8 7.4 6.9 0.3 8.5 8.5
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d), s/veh 53.5 45.0 39.4 57.8 0.0 31.7 57.6 24.1 24.3 54.5 42.6 43.0
LnGrp LOS D D D E C E C C D D D
Approach Vol, veh/h 905 595 1079 759
Approach Delay, s/veh 43.9 39.1 30.9 43.0
Approach LOS D D C D

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 5.6 36.3 11.7 30.5 16.4 25.5 14.2 27.9
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 5.0 31.0 9.6 26.4 12.5 23.5 10.5 25.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 2.5 19.5 7.6 19.7 12.0 19.2 9.9 22.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 4.4 0.0 1.5 0.0 1.9 0.0 1.4

Intersection Summary
HCM 7th Control Delay, s/veh 38.6
HCM 7th LOS D



Queuing and Blocking Report
Projected 2044 with Improvements 02/28/2024

Scenario 1 Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd SimTraffic Report
SCJ Alliance Page 1

Intersection: 1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd

Movement SE SE SE NW NW NE NE NE SW SW SW
Directions Served L T R L TR L T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 100 737 175 249 442 199 328 341 174 274 248
Average Queue (ft) 81 641 164 122 218 131 152 153 19 191 148
95th Queue (ft) 120 875 215 230 378 213 271 274 87 261 230
Link Distance (ft) 676 646 378 378 622 622
Upstream Blk Time (%) 46 0 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 75 150 225 175 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 26 55 4 1 8 8 2 20
Queuing Penalty (veh) 192 242 22 2 13 22 3 2

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 498



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Projected 2044 with Additional Improvements
1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak Hour

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Synchro 12 Report
SCJ Alliance Page 1

Lane Group SEL SET SER NWL NWT NEL NET SWL SWT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 110 420 330 160 395 205 545 10 580
Future Volume (vph) 110 420 330 160 395 205 545 10 580
Turn Type Prot NA Perm Prot NA Prot NA Prot NA
Protected Phases 3 8 7 4 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 8
Detector Phase 3 8 8 7 4 5 2 1 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 5.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 9.5 27.5 27.5 9.5 27.5 9.5 24.5 9.5 24.5
Total Split (s) 13.0 27.5 27.5 16.0 30.5 18.0 37.0 9.5 28.5
Total Split (%) 14.4% 30.6% 30.6% 17.8% 33.9% 20.0% 41.1% 10.6% 31.7%
Maximum Green (s) 8.5 23.0 23.0 11.5 26.0 13.5 32.5 5.0 24.0
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 4.0 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 1.0 0.5 0.5 1.0 0.5 1.0 0.5 1.0 0.5
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Minimum Gap (s) 3.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0
Time Before Reduce (s) 0.0 10.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 10.0
Time To Reduce (s) 0.0 10.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 10.0
Recall Mode None None None None None None Min None Min
Walk Time (s) 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0
Flash Dont Walk (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 12.0 12.0
Pedestrian Calls (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 90
Actuated Cycle Length: 84.3
Natural Cycle: 90
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated

Splits and Phases:     1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd



HCM 7th Signalized Intersection Summary Projected 2044 with Additional Improvements
1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak Hour

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Synchro 12 Report
SCJ Alliance Page 2

Movement SEL SET SER NWL NWT NWR NEL NET NER SWL SWT SWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 110 420 330 160 395 10 205 545 275 10 580 130
Future Volume (veh/h) 110 420 330 160 395 10 205 545 275 10 580 130
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lane Width Adj. 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1781 1781 1781 1841 1841 1841 1870 1870 1870 1856 1856 1856
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 116 442 347 168 416 11 216 574 289 11 611 137
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 8 8 8 4 4 4 2 2 2 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 145 886 395 204 523 14 255 882 444 24 731 164
Arrive On Green 0.09 0.26 0.26 0.12 0.29 0.29 0.14 0.39 0.39 0.01 0.26 0.26
Sat Flow, veh/h 1697 3385 1510 1753 1785 47 1781 2289 1151 1767 2862 641
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 116 442 347 168 0 427 216 445 418 11 376 372
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1697 1692 1510 1753 0 1832 1781 1777 1663 1767 1763 1740
Q Serve(g_s), s 5.4 9.0 17.8 7.6 0.0 17.4 9.6 16.6 16.6 0.5 16.3 16.4
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 5.4 9.0 17.8 7.6 0.0 17.4 9.6 16.6 16.6 0.5 16.3 16.4
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.03 1.00 0.69 1.00 0.37
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 145 886 395 204 0 537 255 685 641 24 450 445
V/C Ratio(X) 0.80 0.50 0.88 0.82 0.00 0.80 0.85 0.65 0.65 0.46 0.83 0.84
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 179 964 430 250 0 590 298 715 669 109 524 517
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 36.3 25.3 28.6 34.9 0.0 26.3 33.7 20.4 20.4 39.6 28.5 28.5
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 18.6 0.4 17.4 16.4 0.0 6.9 17.6 2.0 2.1 13.1 9.9 10.2
Initial Q Delay(d3), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 2.9 3.5 8.1 4.1 0.0 8.3 5.3 6.9 6.5 0.3 7.8 7.8
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d), s/veh 54.9 25.8 46.0 51.3 0.0 33.2 51.3 22.4 22.5 52.7 38.4 38.7
LnGrp LOS D C D D C D C C D D D
Approach Vol, veh/h 905 595 1079 759
Approach Delay, s/veh 37.3 38.3 28.2 38.7
Approach LOS D D C D

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 5.6 35.6 11.4 28.2 16.1 25.1 13.9 25.6
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 5.0 32.5 8.5 26.0 13.5 24.0 11.5 23.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 2.5 18.6 7.4 19.4 11.6 18.4 9.6 19.8
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 4.9 0.0 1.4 0.1 2.3 0.1 1.3

Intersection Summary
HCM 7th Control Delay, s/veh 34.9
HCM 7th LOS C



Queuing and Blocking Report
Projected 2044 with Additional Improvements 02/28/2024

Scenario 1 Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd SimTraffic Report
SCJ Alliance Page 1

Intersection: 1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd

Movement SE SE SE SE NW NW NE NE NE SW SW SW
Directions Served L T T R L TR L T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 100 295 236 169 250 421 197 290 272 94 300 255
Average Queue (ft) 80 170 110 88 120 215 123 132 137 12 183 145
95th Queue (ft) 120 271 223 147 222 368 193 238 237 56 267 229
Link Distance (ft) 674 674 646 366 366 622 622
Upstream Blk Time (%) 0
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 75 150 225 175 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 22 30 1 1 0 9 4 1 16
Queuing Penalty (veh) 45 33 2 2 1 14 11 2 2

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 112



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Projected 2044 - Sensitivity
1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak Hour

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Synchro 12 Report
SCJ Alliance Page 1

Lane Group SEL SET SER NWL NWT NEL NET SWL SWT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 110 455 330 380 420 205 545 10 580
Future Volume (vph) 110 455 330 380 420 205 545 10 580
Turn Type Prot NA Perm Prot NA Prot NA Prot NA
Protected Phases 3 8 7 4 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 8
Detector Phase 3 8 8 7 4 5 2 1 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 5.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 9.5 27.5 27.5 9.5 27.5 9.5 24.5 9.5 24.5
Total Split (s) 17.0 36.0 36.0 31.0 50.0 20.2 43.5 9.5 32.8
Total Split (%) 14.2% 30.0% 30.0% 25.8% 41.7% 16.8% 36.3% 7.9% 27.3%
Maximum Green (s) 12.5 31.5 31.5 26.5 45.5 15.7 39.0 5.0 28.3
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 4.0 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 1.0 0.5 0.5 1.0 0.5 1.0 0.5 1.0 0.5
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Minimum Gap (s) 3.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0
Time Before Reduce (s) 0.0 10.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 10.0
Time To Reduce (s) 0.0 10.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 10.0
Recall Mode None None None None None None Min None Min
Walk Time (s) 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0
Flash Dont Walk (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 12.0 12.0
Pedestrian Calls (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 119.3
Natural Cycle: 120
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated

Splits and Phases:     1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd



HCM 7th Signalized Intersection Summary Projected 2044 - Sensitivity
1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak Hour

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Synchro 12 Report
SCJ Alliance Page 2

Movement SEL SET SER NWL NWT NWR NEL NET NER SWL SWT SWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 110 455 330 380 420 10 205 545 650 10 580 130
Future Volume (veh/h) 110 455 330 380 420 10 205 545 650 10 580 130
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lane Width Adj. 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1781 1781 1781 1841 1841 1841 1870 1870 1870 1856 1856 1856
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 116 479 347 400 442 11 216 574 684 11 611 137
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 8 8 8 4 4 4 2 2 2 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 140 470 399 389 721 18 234 622 555 23 662 148
Arrive On Green 0.08 0.26 0.26 0.22 0.40 0.40 0.13 0.35 0.35 0.01 0.23 0.23
Sat Flow, veh/h 1697 1781 1510 1753 1788 45 1781 1777 1585 1767 2862 641
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 116 479 347 400 0 453 216 574 684 11 376 372
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1697 1781 1510 1753 0 1833 1781 1777 1585 1767 1763 1740
Q Serve(g_s), s 8.0 31.5 26.2 26.5 0.0 23.4 14.3 37.0 41.8 0.7 24.8 25.0
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 8.0 31.5 26.2 26.5 0.0 23.4 14.3 37.0 41.8 0.7 24.8 25.0
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.02 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.37
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 140 470 399 389 0 739 234 622 555 23 408 403
V/C Ratio(X) 0.83 1.02 0.87 1.03 0.00 0.61 0.92 0.92 1.23 0.49 0.92 0.92
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 178 470 399 389 0 739 234 622 555 74 418 413
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 53.9 43.9 42.0 46.4 0.0 28.2 51.2 37.2 38.8 58.5 44.8 44.8
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 21.7 46.2 18.4 52.8 0.0 1.5 38.0 19.4 119.6 15.3 25.3 26.1
Initial Q Delay(d3), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 4.3 19.8 11.7 17.2 0.0 10.5 8.8 19.2 34.4 0.4 13.7 13.6
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d), s/veh 75.6 90.1 60.3 99.2 0.0 29.7 89.2 56.6 158.3 73.8 70.1 71.0
LnGrp LOS E F E F C F E F E E E
Approach Vol, veh/h 942 853 1474 759
Approach Delay, s/veh 77.4 62.3 108.6 70.6
Approach LOS E E F E

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 6.0 46.3 14.4 52.6 20.2 32.1 31.0 36.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 5.0 39.0 12.5 45.5 15.7 28.3 26.5 31.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 2.7 43.8 10.0 25.4 16.3 27.0 28.5 33.5
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 0.0 0.1 2.8 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 7th Control Delay, s/veh 84.3
HCM 7th LOS F



Queuing and Blocking Report
Projected 2044 - Sensitivity 03/01/2024

Scenario 1 Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd SimTraffic Report
SCJ Alliance Page 1

Intersection: 1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd

Movement SE SE SE NW NW NE NE NE SW SW SW
Directions Served L T R L TR L T TR L T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 100 737 175 250 703 200 406 425 124 378 347
Average Queue (ft) 75 703 151 247 579 168 378 393 14 244 211
95th Queue (ft) 125 727 229 265 807 235 450 431 64 343 312
Link Distance (ft) 676 646 378 378 622 622
Upstream Blk Time (%) 67 35 23 61
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 0 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 75 150 225 175 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 21 60 3 47 12 25 20 35
Queuing Penalty (veh) 166 264 15 202 46 67 42 3

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 807



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Projected 2044 Sensitivity with Improvements Alt 1
1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak Hour

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Synchro 12 Report
SCJ Alliance Page 1

Lane Group SEL SET SER NWL NWT NEL NET NER SWL SWT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 110 455 330 380 420 205 545 650 10 580
Future Volume (vph) 110 455 330 380 420 205 545 650 10 580
Turn Type Prot NA Perm Prot NA Prot NA Perm Prot NA
Protected Phases 3 8 7 4 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 8 2
Detector Phase 3 8 8 7 4 5 2 2 1 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 5.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 9.5 27.5 27.5 9.5 27.5 9.5 24.5 24.5 9.5 24.5
Total Split (s) 14.2 30.0 30.0 16.2 32.0 17.0 34.3 34.3 9.5 26.8
Total Split (%) 15.8% 33.3% 33.3% 18.0% 35.6% 18.9% 38.1% 38.1% 10.6% 29.8%
Maximum Green (s) 9.7 25.5 25.5 11.7 27.5 12.5 29.8 29.8 5.0 22.3
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 4.0 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 4.0 3.5 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 1.0 0.5 0.5 1.0 0.5 1.0 0.5 0.5 1.0 0.5
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Minimum Gap (s) 3.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 2.0
Time Before Reduce (s) 0.0 10.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 10.0 0.0 10.0
Time To Reduce (s) 0.0 10.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 10.0 0.0 10.0
Recall Mode None None None None None None Min Min None Min
Walk Time (s) 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0
Flash Dont Walk (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 12.0 12.0 12.0
Pedestrian Calls (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 90
Actuated Cycle Length: 89
Natural Cycle: 90
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated

Splits and Phases:     1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd



HCM 7th Signalized Intersection Summary Projected 2044 Sensitivity with Improvements Alt 1
1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak Hour

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Synchro 12 Report
SCJ Alliance Page 2

Movement SEL SET SER NWL NWT NWR NEL NET NER SWL SWT SWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 110 455 330 380 420 10 205 545 650 10 580 130
Future Volume (veh/h) 110 455 330 380 420 10 205 545 650 10 580 130
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lane Width Adj. 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1781 1781 1781 1841 1841 1841 1870 1870 1870 1856 1856 1856
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 116 479 163 400 442 11 216 574 400 11 611 137
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 8 8 8 4 4 4 2 2 2 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 144 509 432 448 595 15 250 1303 581 24 686 153
Arrive On Green 0.08 0.29 0.29 0.13 0.33 0.33 0.14 0.37 0.37 0.01 0.24 0.24
Sat Flow, veh/h 1697 1781 1510 3401 1788 45 1781 3554 1585 1767 2862 641
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 116 479 163 400 0 453 216 574 400 11 376 372
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1697 1781 1510 1700 0 1833 1781 1777 1585 1767 1763 1740
Q Serve(g_s), s 6.0 23.3 7.7 10.3 0.0 19.5 10.5 10.8 19.0 0.5 18.3 18.4
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 6.0 23.3 7.7 10.3 0.0 19.5 10.5 10.8 19.0 0.5 18.3 18.4
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.02 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.37
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 144 509 432 448 0 609 250 1303 581 24 422 417
V/C Ratio(X) 0.80 0.94 0.38 0.89 0.00 0.74 0.86 0.44 0.69 0.47 0.89 0.89
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 185 511 433 448 0 609 250 1303 581 99 442 437
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 39.9 31.0 25.4 38.0 0.0 26.3 37.4 21.3 23.8 43.5 32.7 32.7
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 17.7 25.7 0.5 19.9 0.0 4.9 25.3 0.2 3.4 13.5 19.0 19.6
Initial Q Delay(d3), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 3.2 13.3 2.8 5.4 0.0 9.0 6.3 4.4 7.4 0.3 9.8 9.8
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d), s/veh 57.7 56.7 26.0 57.9 0.0 31.2 62.6 21.5 27.3 57.1 51.7 52.3
LnGrp LOS E E C E C E C C E D D
Approach Vol, veh/h 758 853 1190 759
Approach Delay, s/veh 50.2 43.7 30.9 52.1
Approach LOS D D C D

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 5.7 37.1 12.1 34.1 17.0 25.8 16.2 29.9
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 5.0 29.8 9.7 27.5 12.5 22.3 11.7 25.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 2.5 21.0 8.0 21.5 12.5 20.4 12.3 25.3
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 3.6 0.0 1.4 0.0 0.9 0.0 0.1

Intersection Summary
HCM 7th Control Delay, s/veh 42.6
HCM 7th LOS D



Queuing and Blocking Report
Projected 2044 Sensitivity with Improvements Alt 1 02/28/2024

Scenario 1 Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd SimTraffic Report
SCJ Alliance Page 1

Intersection: 1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd

Movement SE SE SE NW NW NW NE NE NE NE SW SW
Directions Served L T R L L TR L T T R L T
Maximum Queue (ft) 100 734 175 237 250 473 199 326 399 175 145 296
Average Queue (ft) 79 680 168 157 209 230 134 165 222 156 16 201
95th Queue (ft) 122 835 208 256 280 411 210 285 428 211 81 281
Link Distance (ft) 675 640 372 372 616
Upstream Blk Time (%) 60 0 0 4
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 0 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 75 150 225 225 175 150 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 24 59 3 0 7 6 6 3 1 21 23
Queuing Penalty (veh) 187 258 17 1 30 21 16 5 5 57 2

Intersection: 1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd

Movement SW
Directions Served TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 278
Average Queue (ft) 165
95th Queue (ft) 255
Link Distance (ft) 616
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 600



Lanes, Volumes, Timings Projected 2044 Sensitivity with Improvements Alt 2
1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak Hour

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Synchro 12 Report
SCJ Alliance Page 1

Lane Group SEL SET SER NWL NWT NEL NET NER SWL SWT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 110 455 330 380 420 205 545 650 10 580
Future Volume (vph) 110 455 330 380 420 205 545 650 10 580
Turn Type Prot NA Perm Prot NA Prot NA Perm Prot NA
Protected Phases 3 8 7 4 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 8 2
Detector Phase 3 8 8 7 4 5 2 2 1 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 5.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 5.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 9.5 27.5 27.5 9.5 27.5 9.5 24.5 24.5 9.5 24.5
Total Split (s) 13.0 27.5 27.5 17.0 31.5 18.0 36.0 36.0 9.5 27.5
Total Split (%) 14.4% 30.6% 30.6% 18.9% 35.0% 20.0% 40.0% 40.0% 10.6% 30.6%
Maximum Green (s) 8.5 23.0 23.0 12.5 27.0 13.5 31.5 31.5 5.0 23.0
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 4.0 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 4.0 3.5 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 1.0 0.5 0.5 1.0 0.5 1.0 0.5 0.5 1.0 0.5
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Vehicle Extension (s) 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0
Minimum Gap (s) 3.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 2.0
Time Before Reduce (s) 0.0 10.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 10.0 0.0 10.0
Time To Reduce (s) 0.0 10.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 0.0 10.0 10.0 0.0 10.0
Recall Mode None None None None None None Min Min None Min
Walk Time (s) 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 8.0
Flash Dont Walk (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 12.0 12.0 12.0
Pedestrian Calls (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 90
Actuated Cycle Length: 85
Natural Cycle: 90
Control Type: Actuated-Uncoordinated

Splits and Phases:     1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd



HCM 7th Signalized Intersection Summary Projected 2044 Sensitivity with Improvements Alt 2
1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd Timing Plan: PM Peak Hour

Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd Synchro 12 Report
SCJ Alliance Page 2

Movement SEL SET SER NWL NWT NWR NEL NET NER SWL SWT SWR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 110 455 330 380 420 10 205 545 650 10 580 130
Future Volume (veh/h) 110 455 330 380 420 10 205 545 650 10 580 130
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lane Width Adj. 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1781 1781 1781 1841 1841 1841 1870 1870 1870 1856 1856 1856
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 116 479 163 400 442 11 216 574 400 11 611 137
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 8 8 8 4 4 4 2 2 2 3 3 3
Cap, veh/h 145 758 338 488 504 13 257 1375 613 24 733 164
Arrive On Green 0.09 0.22 0.22 0.14 0.28 0.28 0.14 0.39 0.39 0.01 0.26 0.26
Sat Flow, veh/h 1697 3385 1510 3401 1788 45 1781 3554 1585 1767 2862 641
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 116 479 163 400 0 453 216 574 400 11 376 372
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1697 1692 1510 1700 0 1833 1781 1777 1585 1767 1763 1740
Q Serve(g_s), s 5.2 9.9 7.3 8.9 0.0 18.3 9.2 9.2 16.0 0.5 15.6 15.7
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 5.2 9.9 7.3 8.9 0.0 18.3 9.2 9.2 16.0 0.5 15.6 15.7
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.02 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.37
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 145 758 338 488 0 516 257 1375 613 24 452 446
V/C Ratio(X) 0.80 0.63 0.48 0.82 0.00 0.88 0.84 0.42 0.65 0.46 0.83 0.83
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 186 1004 448 548 0 638 310 1444 644 114 523 516
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 34.8 27.2 26.2 32.2 0.0 26.6 32.3 17.4 19.5 38.0 27.3 27.3
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 16.9 0.9 1.1 8.7 0.0 11.3 15.8 0.2 2.2 13.0 9.8 10.1
Initial Q Delay(d3), s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 2.8 4.0 2.6 4.1 0.0 9.2 5.0 3.6 5.9 0.3 7.5 7.5
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d), s/veh 51.7 28.1 27.2 41.0 0.0 37.9 48.1 17.6 21.7 50.9 37.0 37.4
LnGrp LOS D C C D D D B C D D D
Approach Vol, veh/h 758 853 1190 759
Approach Delay, s/veh 31.5 39.3 24.5 37.4
Approach LOS C D C D

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 5.6 34.5 11.1 26.3 15.7 24.4 15.6 21.9
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5 4.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 5.0 31.5 8.5 27.0 13.5 23.0 12.5 23.0
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 2.5 18.0 7.2 20.3 11.2 17.7 10.9 11.9
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 4.6 0.0 1.6 0.1 2.2 0.3 2.9

Intersection Summary
HCM 7th Control Delay, s/veh 32.3
HCM 7th LOS C



Queuing and Blocking Report
Projected 2044 Sensitivity with Improvements Alt 2 02/28/2024

Scenario 1 Wallace Kneeland Blvd/Shelton Springs Rd SimTraffic Report
SCJ Alliance Page 1

Intersection: 1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd

Movement SE SE SE SE NW NW NW NE NE NE NE SW
Directions Served L T T R L L TR L T T R L
Maximum Queue (ft) 100 349 309 174 236 250 483 199 299 350 175 149
Average Queue (ft) 83 183 140 107 140 197 215 131 149 132 132 12
95th Queue (ft) 124 297 261 178 244 269 375 209 256 301 201 60
Link Distance (ft) 674 674 642 360 360
Upstream Blk Time (%) 0 0 1
Queuing Penalty (veh) 0 0 0
Storage Bay Dist (ft) 75 150 225 225 175 150 150
Storage Blk Time (%) 24 36 2 2 0 3 5 4 2 0 10
Queuing Penalty (veh) 54 40 8 5 1 15 21 11 5 1 26

Intersection: 1: Wallace Kneeland Blvd & Shelton Springs Rd

Movement SW SW
Directions Served T TR
Maximum Queue (ft) 288 257
Average Queue (ft) 193 157
95th Queue (ft) 262 236
Link Distance (ft) 616 616
Upstream Blk Time (%)
Queuing Penalty (veh)
Storage Bay Dist (ft)
Storage Blk Time (%) 21
Queuing Penalty (veh) 2

Network Summary
Network wide Queuing Penalty: 189



 
 

CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON - CITY COUNCIL 
Study Session Minutes 

June 25, 2024 – 6:00 p.m. 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform 

 

City Council - Study Session 
June 25, 2024 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform Page 1 of 1 
 

 

COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL  
Councilmembers: Personnel:  
Mayor Eric Onisko City Manager Mark Ziegler   
Deputy Mayor Sharon Schirman City Clerk Donna Nault 
George Blush Police Chief Chris Kostad  
Tom Gilmore Police Captain Dan Patton 
Miguel Gutierrez  
Lyndsey Sapp Guest: 
  Flock Safety – Community Affairs Manager Kristen MacLeod 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Call to Order: 6:00 p.m. 
Roll Call: City Clerk Nault – Absent: Councilmember Stearns 
 
STUDY AGENDA 
1. Flock Demonstration – Presented by Police Chief Chris Kostad and Police Captain Dan Patton and 
    Community Affairs Manager MacLeod. 
 
Police Chief Kostad and Police Captain Patton presented information about the Flock system. Discussion 
followed. 
 
NEW ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 
None 
 
ADJOURN 
Mayor Onisko adjourned the meeting at 6:47 p.m. 
 
 
 
_________________________________  _________________________________ 
Mayor Eric Onisko     City Clerk Donna Nault 



 
 

CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON - CITY COUNCIL 
City Council Meeting Minutes 

July 2, 2024 – 6:00 p.m. 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform 

 

COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL  
Councilmembers: Personnel: 
Mayor Eric Onisko City Manager Mark Ziegler  
Deputy Mayor Sharon Schirman City Clerk Donna Nault 
George Blush Finance Director Mike Githens  
Tom Gilmore 
Miguel Gutierrez   
Lyndsey Sapp 
Melissa Stearns     
   
CALL TO ORDER 
Call to Order: 6:00 p.m. 
Pledge of Allegiance: Mayor Onisko 
Roll Call: City Clerk Nault – All Present 
 
LATE CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 
Remove item E-1 from the business agenda - Library Deck Project. This item will be rescheduled pending legal 
review. 
 
CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 
LEOFF Board meeting – Councilmember Stearns 
 
CONSENT AGENDA 
1. Vouchers numbered 110900 through 110966 and EFT payment numbers 410 through 443 in the total 

amount of $853,797.90 
2. Vouchers numbered 110986 through 111065 and EFT payment numbers 444 through 465 in the total 

amount of $559,384.15 
3. Payroll warrants numbered 12736 through 12834. Warrants 110973 through 110985 in the amount of   

$366,969.23 
4. Minutes: 

• Business Meeting of May 21, 2024 
• Study Session of May 28, 2024 
• Business Meeting of June 4, 2024 
• Study Session of June 11, 2024 
• Business Meeting of June 18, 2024 

5. Lodging Tax Advisory Committee (LTAC) Member Renewals 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Councilmember Blush to approve the 
consent agenda as read. Passed. 
 
GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT (3-minute time limit) 
In-Person: Zoom: 
Jackie Jewett Tamra Ingwaldson 
Dean Jewett 



 

City Council – July 2, 2024 - Meeting Minutes 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform  Page 2 of 2 

 
   
BUSINESS AGENDA 
1. Resolution No. 1339-0624 Library Deck Project – Presented by Parks & Recreation Supervisor Jordanne 
    Krumpols.  
 
ACTION AGENDA 
1. Resolution No. 1337-0624 Right! Systems Inc. Managed Service Agreement – Presented by Finance Director  
    Mike Githens. 
 
Finance Director Githens presented information regarding a managed service agreement with Right! Systems 
Inc. No discussion. No public comment. 
 
A motion was made by Councilmember Gutierrez and seconded by Councilmember Stearns to adopt 
Resolution No. 1337-0624 as presented. Passed. 
 
ADMINISTRATION REPORT 
1. City Manager Report 

• The 4th of July is coming up on Thursday and City offices will be closed. As a reminder, fireworks are 
banned within city limits. 

• July 10, 2024 – Field Day at Kneeland Park 
• July 12, 2024 – Movies in the Park 6-week series begins 

 
NEW ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 
None 
 
ANNOUNCEMENT OF NEXT MEETING 
Study Session – July 9, 2024 at 6:00 p.m.  
City Council Meeting – July 16, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 
 
MEETING ADJOURN 
Mayor Onisko adjourned the meeting at 6:17 p.m. 
 
 
 
___________________________  _________________________________ 
Mayor Eric Onisko  City Clerk Donna Nault 



 
 

CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON - CITY COUNCIL 
Study Session Minutes 
July 9, 2024 – 6:00 p.m. 

Civic Center & Virtual Platform 
 

City Council - Study Session 
July 9, 2024 
Civic Center & Virtual Platform Page 1 of 1 
 

COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL  
Councilmembers: Personnel:  
Mayor Eric Onisko City Manager Mark Ziegler   
Deputy Mayor Sharon Schirman City Clerk Pro Tem Danielle Dedmon 
George Blush Capital Projects Manager Aaron Nix   
Tom Gilmore Public Works Director Jay Harris 
Miguel Gutierrez Community & Economic Development Director Jae Hill 
Lyndsey Sapp 
Melissa Stearns 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
Call to Order: 6:00 p.m. 
Roll Call: City Clerk Pro Tem Dedmon – All Present 
 
STUDY AGENDA 
1. Advanced Meter Infrastructure (AMI) Project – Presented by Capital Projects Manager Aaron Nix and 
    Public Works Director Jay Harris 
 
Capital Projects Manager Nix and Public Works Director Harris presented information regarding the 
Advanced Meter Infrastructure (AMI) Project. Discussion followed. 
 
2. Preliminary Design for the Cota Street Art District – Presented by Community & Economic Development 
    Director Jae Hill. 
 
Community & Economic Development Director Hill presented information regarding the preliminary design 
for the Cota Street Art District. Discussion followed. 
 
NEW ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 
None 
 
ADJOURN 
Mayor Onisko adjourned the meeting at 6:59 p.m. 
 
 
 
_________________________________  _________________________________ 
Mayor Eric Onisko     City Clerk Donna Nault 



Prepared for City of Shelton Lodging Tax Advisory Committee



The total number of visitors served in 1Q 2024 has 

decreased compared to the same period last year as 

the severe weather compromised access to popular 

destinations and affected vehicle travel.

The quantity of maps and recreational passes 

decreased as well. This was not only due to the 

reduction in the visitor county but also due to the 

fact that our vendor partners, including Olympic 

National Park and US Forest Service were sold out of 

many popular passes.

Phone calls continue to be an important service for 

visitors, especially those looking for local and current 

conditions. The onverall number was less than last 

year but still significantly higher than 2022. 

The Caboose Visitor Information Center & the 

Chamber office are typically open Monday-Friday, 

8:00a-5:00p. The Hoodsport Visitor Center is 

operated on winter hours, Thursday-Sunday, 10:00a-

4:00p.

2024 2023 2022

Interagency 28 150 145

Forest Annual 19 35 24

Discover Annual 34 91 66

Discover Day 0 10 1

NW Forest Day 26 58 40

Christmas 0 0 0

US Forest Map 5 8 19

Mt. Skok Map 6 10 7

Brothers Map 1 10 3

EV Map 2 4 4

NatGeo Map 0 5 5

Visitors 916 2615 1955

Phone Calls 296 456 141



:

We saw visitors from in-state cities such as 
Tacoma, Olympia, Seattle, Allyn, Union, 
Belfair, and residents within Shelton.

There were many visitors from out of state 
such as: Wyoming, Arkansas, Illinois, Texas, 
California. 

There were a few visitors from out of 
country: Vancouver, Germany.

A few visitors said the reason they came was 
because they love trains and found it a 
wonderful experience for our visitor center to 
be a train caboose.



:

We saw visitors from in-state cities such as 
Tacoma, Olympia, Allyn, and Seattle.

There were many visitors from out of state such as 
Texas, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, 
Utah, and Oregon.

A few visitors came from overseas or out of 
country: British Columbia, Hawaii, and Switzerland.



The Shelton-Mason Chamber of Commerce page 

continues to be an effective way to share relevant 

business news, community happenings, points of 

interest, and information on hot topics. We continue 

to see steady growth.

Total Quarter Reach
39,400 (up 43.1%)

The Hood Canal Visitor Center page shares 
relevel tourism related topics. This includes 
suggestions for things to do and places to visit in 
the Hood Canal region, including City of Shelton, 
Mason County, Washington State Parks, and 
Olympic National Forest and Park.

Our unique partnership with the ONP & USFS, 
along with our regular interactions with the 
rangers provides us insights and credible 
information to share with the traveling public.

Total Quarter Reach
5,500 (up 631.5%)







Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item F1) 

Touch Date:  07/16/2024  
Brief Date:    08/06/2024     
Action Date:  08/20/2024  

Department: Public Works 
   
Presented By: Brent Armstrong 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: 

  PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 
  Aspect Consulting Contract     
  Amendment No. 3 for C Street 
  Landfill Post-Cleanup Monitoring 
 
  ATTACHMENTS:  

- Resolution No. 1342-0724 
- Contract Amendment No. 3 
- PowerPoint Presentation 

 
Action Requested: 
 

 Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head  J.O.H. 

 
 

 
Finance Director   

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk  

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION:   
Under the State Model Toxics Control Act (MTCA), the Department of Ecology (ECY) mandated the closure of 
the City’s C Street Landfill. The process initiated in 2015 when the City and ECY worked together to determine 
requirements and steps necessary to effectively close the landfill in accordance with the MTCA. The City then 
entered into a contract with Aspect Consulting, (following a formal qualification-based selection process) to 
assist the City in negotiating an Agreed Order (AO) with Ecology and complete a Remedial Investigation and 
Feasibility Study on the landfill. Agreed Order No. DE 12929 became effective September 30, 2016 following 
review and approval by motion from the City Commission. 
Aspect Consulting completed the work and submitted all elements required to the Department of Ecology in 
accordance with the Agreed Order. While the Department of Ecology completed a final review of the submitted 
documents, a new Agreed Order (Agreed Order No. DE 19541) was drafted to implement the Cleanup Action 
Plan and outlined the remaining elements required for the landfill to reach closeout status. The new Agreed 
Order was accepted by Council on September 21, 2021 and became effective December 20, 2021 following a 
formal public participation process conducted by the Department of Ecology, which was the final element 
required for the City to receive a Letter of Satisfaction, closing out the initial Agreed Order No. DE 12929. 
In January 2022, the Council adopted Resolution No. 1220-1121 in the amount of $75,791 for Aspect 
Consulting to create final plans and specifications for construction bidding, and in September of that same year, 
through adoption of Resolution No. 1242-0822, Council approved Contract Amendment No. 1 in the amount of 
$238,176 for Aspect to provide construction support and one year of post-construction monitoring and 
reporting, as required by the State Agreed Order. 
Construction for the cleanup efforts commenced in January 2023 and then paused in early February when it 
became evident that the waste on the adjacent property extended further and deeper than anticipated. Aspect 
Consulting facilitated drilling and test pit explorations in the newly discovered waste areas to determine the 
lateral and vertical extent of the additional landfill waste on the adjacent property, and prepared amended 
construction plans and specifications for the additional waste removal so the contractor could continue with 
construction. 
This brought forth Contract Amendment No. 2 in the amount of $121,564, to compensate Aspect for the 



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

additional design efforts and the further inspection and reporting tasks required, which was approved by 
Council in May of 2023 through adoption of Resolution No. 1271-0423. 
Construction efforts and the first year of post-construction monitoring and reporting has since concluded with 
$43,512.85 remaining in the previously approved contract budget, but continual environmental monitoring and 
reporting is required indefinitely by the state Department of Ecology under the Agreed Order. Some of the 
environmental monitoring efforts are able to be completed by City Staff, such as site maintenance, but the City 
has requested Aspect Consulting continue with the testing and reporting requirements for post-cleanup years 
two through five, which is anticipated to cost $190,732.  
With the $43,512.85 of previously approved funds remaining in the contract budget, this continued effort will 
require an increase to the contract budget of $147,219.15 and an extension of the contract term through 2029. 
Additionally, this Contract Amendment No. 3 will take care of a few administrative requirements and procedures 
pertaining to invoices and allowable expenditures that the City has been implementing into all new and existing 
contracts. 
ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES:  
The monitoring and reporting activities are requirements of the Agreed Order and are necessary step towards 
closing out the landfill.   
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION:  
Up to this point, 75% of contract funds utilized have been reimbursed by monies awarded through the Toxics 
Cleanup Oversight Remedial Action Grant program from the State Department of Ecology. The grant program 
only covers activities completed through the first year of post-cleanup, and subsequent efforts, although 
required, are not eligible for grant reimbursement. As such, all forthcoming activities will utilize the budgeted 
monies remaining (approximately $279,000) in the Solid Waste fund. 
PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
Information may be obtained from the City Clerk.   
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
Staff recommends: “I move to place Resolution No. 1342-0724 on the August 20, 2024 Council meeting action 
agenda for further consideration”.  
  



RESOLUTION NO. 1342-0724 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SHELTON, WASHINGTON, AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
MANAGER TO APPROVE CONTRACT AMENDMENT NO. 3 WITH ASPECT CONSULTING, LLC FOR  

POST-CLEANUP MONITORING AND REPORTING OF THE C STREET LANDFILL 
 
WHEREAS, in December of 2021, following initial remedial investigation and feasibility study efforts, Agreed 
Order No. DE 19541 between the City of Shelton and the Department of Ecology went into effect to implement 
a Cleanup Action Plan for the C Street Landfill; and 
 
WHEREAS, in January 2022, Council adopted Resolution No. 1220-1121, approving a $75,791 Professional 
Services Agreement with Aspect Consulting for creation of construction plans, specifications, and bid 
documents, in accordance with the Agreed Order; and 
 
WHEREAS, Aspect Consulting completed the construction plans and bid documents and in September of 2022, 
Council adopted Resolution No. 1242-0822, approving Contract Amendment No. 1 in the amount of $238,176 
for Aspect Consulting to provide construction support and oversight of the cleanup efforts, and one year of 
post-construction monitoring and reporting, as described in the State Agreed Order; and 
 
WHEREAS, additional environmental and geotechnical services were found to be needed during construction 
due to the unrealized extent of the landfill waste and in May of 2023, through Council’s adoption of Resolution 
No. 1271-0423, Amendment No. 02 was executed, increasing the contract value by $121,564; and 
 
WHEREAS, construction efforts and the first year of post-cleanup monitoring and reporting has concluded with 
$43,512.85 remaining in the contract budget, but continual environmental monitoring and reporting is 
required indefinitely by the State Department of Ecology under the Agreed Order; and 
 
WHEREAS, City staff has requested Aspect Consulting continue with the required testing and reporting efforts 
for post-cleanup years two through five, at an anticipated cost of $190,732, which, with the funds remaining in 
the contract budget, will require an increase to the contract value by $147,219.15, as well as an extension of 
the contract term, bringing forth Contract Amendment No. 3; and 
 
WHEREAS, additionally, the City has recently updated its administrative requirements and procedures 
pertaining to invoices and allowable expenditures and wishes to incorporate these updates into all new and 
existing contracts. 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Shelton that the City Manager is authorized to 
execute Contract Amendment No. 3 to the Professional Services Agreement with Aspect Consulting, LLC for 
post-cleanup monitoring and reporting of the C Street Landfill. 
 
INTRODUCED on August 6, 2024 and PASSED by the City Council at its regular meeting held on the 20th day of 
August, 2024. 
 
 
       _____________________________________ 
ATTEST:       Mayor Onisko 
 
________________________________ 
City Clerk Nault 



AMENDMENT NO. 03
to

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT
C STREET LANDFILL ENVIRONMENTAL CLEANUP

WHEREAS, the City of Shelton entered into a Professional Services Agreement with Aspect Consulting on January 
5, 2022, with a Contract Value of $75,791 for construction planning efforts for the environmental cleanup at the 
C Street Landfill; and

WHEREAS, in September of 2022, Amendment No. 01 was executed, increasing the Contract value by $238,176 
and extending the Contract Term through June 30, 2024 to allow for Aspect Consulting to provide construction 
support and oversight of the cleanup efforts, and complete the first year of post-cleanup monitoring and 
reporting; and

WHEREAS, additional environmental and geotechnical services were found to be needed during construction due 
to the unknown extent of the landfill waste, and in May of 2023, Amendment No. 02 was executed, increasing the 
Contract value by $121,564; and

WHEREAS, construction efforts and the first year of post-cleanup monitoring and reporting has concluded with 
$43,512.85 remaining in the Contract budget, but continual environmental monitoring and reporting is required 
indefinitely by the State Department of Ecology under Agreed Order No. DE 19541; and

WHEREAS, City staff is able to take on some of the post-cleanup tasks required, such as maintenance of the site, 
but the City has requested that Aspect Consulting continue with the testing and reporting requirements for post-
cleanup years two through five, at an anticipated cost of $190,732, which, with the funds remaining in the contract 
budget, will require an increase to the Contract value by $147,219.15, as well as an extension of the Contract 
Term; and

WHEREAS, additionally, the City has recently updated its administrative requirements and procedures pertaining 
to invoices and allowable expenditures and wishes to incorporate these updates into all new and existing 
Contracts.

NOW THEREFORE, all provisions in the basic agreement remain in effect except as expressly modified by this 
amendment and agreed upon as follows:

1. The additional scope of work is described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this
reference.

2. The Contract value is increased by $147,219.15, for a new not to exceed amount of $582,750.15.

3. The Contract end date identified in Section 8 Duration of Agreement, is hereby amended to read
December 31, 2029.

4. Exhibit B Billing Voucher in the original Contract shall be replaced in its entirety with new Exhibit B
Invoicing Requirements, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.

5. The first paragraph of Section 6 Compensation and Method of Payment is deleted entirely and replaced
with the following:

Page 1 of 10



ASPECT  |  C STREET LANDFILL ENVIRONMENTAL CLEANUP AMEND. NO. 03

Consultant may receive payment as reimbursement for Eligible Expenses actually incurred. “Eligible 
Expenses” means those types and amounts of expenses either listed in Exhibit D – Reimbursable 
Expenses or such expenses as are approved for reimbursement by the City’s Contract Manager, in 
writing, prior to the expense being incurred. Expenses not specifically identified in Exhibit D may not be 
reimbursed unless prior written approval was obtained from the City. An expense shall not be 
reimbursed if: 1) the expense is not identified in Exhibit D; 2) the expense would exceed the contract 
value identified in Section 6; or 3) the expense was not approved in writing by the City’s Contract 
Manager, or an authorized City representative, prior to the Consultant incurring the expense. 

The Consultant shall submit timely invoices to the City following work performance, but not more often 
than once every thirty (30) days. Timely is to mean within 60 days following completion of work, tasks, 
or hours performed. Year-end invoices shall be submitted no later than January 10th of each year.

The City shall pay the Consultant for services rendered within thirty (30) days of receipt of an approvable 
invoice. To obtain payment, the Consultant shall:

A. File its request for payment accompanied by evidence satisfactory to the City justifying the
request for payment.

B. Follow the invoicing guidelines described in Exhibit B - Invoicing Requirements, including the
Billing Voucher form provided in the Exhibit.

C. To the extent reimbursement of eligible expenses is sought, submit itemization of such expenses
and all documentation required, as defined in Exhibit D – Reimbursable Expenses.

D. Comply with all applicable provisions of this Agreement.

6. New Exhibit D – Reimbursable expenses, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties enter into this Amendment. DATED this 20th day of August, 2024

CITY OF SHELTON ASPECT CONSULTING

___________________________________ _________________________________
Mark Ziegler, City Manager Carla Brock, Sr. Associate Geologist

Page 2 of 10

Ali.Cochrane
Carla Brock



May 31, 2024 

Brooke Kilts, Procurement and Contracts Administrator 
City of Shelton 
525 West Cota Street 
Shelton, Washington 98584 

Re: Proposal for Post-Cleanup Construction Annual Monitoring – Years 2 to 5 
C Street Landfill, Shelton, Washington 
Project No. 150074C 

Dear Brooke: 

Aspect Consulting (Aspect) has prepared this proposal to present the scope of work and cost 
estimate for conducting post-cleanup construction monitoring for the Shelton C Street Landfill, as 
described in the Compliance Monitoring Plan (CMP; Appendix A to the Engineering Design 
Report) and Inspection, Monitoring, and Maintenance Plan (I, M, and M Plan) prepared in 
accordance with Agreed Order No. DE 19541 (Agreed Order) between the City of Shelton (City) 
and the Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology). This scope of work includes:  

 Topographic survey of the landfill cap, to occur annually in the third quarter for each of
Years 2 through 5, and to be performed by a licensed surveyor under subcontract to Aspect
and to include a surveyor’s attestment to be transmitted to the City and Ecology.

 Inspection of the landfill cap, to occur annually in the third quarter for each of Years 2
through 5, and preparation of inspection documentation to be transmitted to the City and
Ecology.

 Semi-annual groundwater monitoring events, to occur twice annually in February and
August in each of Years 2 through 5, and preparation of an Annual Groundwater
Monitoring Report for transmittal to the City and Ecology.

This proposal presents costs for the above scope of work for post-construction Years 2 through 5, 
beginning in Third Quarter 2024. A brief description of the scope of work for each task is provided 
below, along with the assumptions relied upon to develop the cost estimate provided in Table 1.  

Proposed Scope of Work 
Task 1 (continued): Project Management and Quarterly Reporting 
This task is for ongoing project management and is presented as an estimated level of effort. The 
work includes project team meetings and communications, preparation of quarterly progress 
reports, and monthly invoicing and budget management. Quarterly progress reports will be 
submitted to Ecology by the 15th of each of January, April, July, and October.  

Task 2: Annual Topographic Survey 
This task is for annual topographic survey by a licensed surveyor, under subcontract to Aspect, to 
re-measure elevations at the eight markers established on the landfill cap at the end of construction. 
The cost estimate includes time for the Aspect project manager to schedule, coordinate access, and 

e a r t h + w a t e r Aspect Consulting     710 2nd Avenue  Suite 550     Seattle, WA 98104    206.328.7443     www.aspectconsulting.com

ASPECT | C STREET LANDFILL ENVIRONMENTAL CLEANUP
AMEND. NO. 03

EXHIBIT A

Page 3 of 10



City of Shelton 
May 31, 2024 Project No. 150074-C 

Page 2 

communicate with the surveyor on behalf of the City, and for transmittal of the surveyor’s 
attestment to the City and Ecology. The cost estimate assumes an Aspect field representative is not 
onsite to oversee the surveyor. The cost estimate includes costs for five annual surveys to occur in 
Third Quarter 2024, 2025, 2026, 2027, and 2028. Subsequent surveys will be provided in future 
cost estimates provided to the City annually.  

Task 3: Annual Landfill Cap Inspection  
This task is for the Aspect field technician to perform annual landfill cap inspections, and prepare 
inspection documentation forms attached to the I, M, and M Plan for transmittal to the City and 
Ecology. The cost estimate includes time for the Aspect project manager to schedule and coordinate 
access and assumes the inspection will occur during one field day (including travel from Aspect’s 
Bainbridge Island field office). The cost estimate includes costs for five annual inspections to occur 
in Third Quarter 2024, 2025, 2026, 2027, and 2028. Subsequent inspections will be provided in 
future cost estimates provided to the City annually. 

Task 4: Semi-Annual Groundwater Monitoring 
This task includes continued semi-annual groundwater monitoring. Twice yearly, water level 
measurements and analytical groundwater samples will be collected at the four monitoring wells, 
AMW-1 to AMW-4. Analytical groundwater samples, including one field duplicate (for a total of 5 
groundwater samples) will be collected using low flow methodology and analyzed for total iron and 
total manganese using EPA Method 200.8 or equivalent on standard turnaround times (7 to 10 
days). Data results will undergo a Level II data validation.  

Aspect will prepare draft and final versions of an annual groundwater monitoring report following 
the second semi-annual event, to include a summary of the field activities and results, the results of 
the Level II data validation, and a map of the well locations for City review and submittal to 
Ecology. Validated groundwater monitoring data will be submitted to Ecology’s Environmental 
Information Management (EIM) system annually.  

The cost estimate assumes Ecology will require semi-annual groundwater monitoring throughout 
the period covered by this proposal, and therefore includes costs for these activities for two events 
per year for post-construction Years 2 through 5, to occur in August and February, beginning 
August 2024 and ending February 2029. The frequency and/or scope of the groundwater 
monitoring events may be reduced in consultation with Ecology once sufficient data has been 
collected to demonstrate functional stability of the landfill.  

Cost Estimate 
The cost to complete the scope of work described herein is estimated to be approximately 
$190,732. Note, this cost is for those post-construction monitoring activities to be completed by 
Aspect, and does not include activities to be completed by the City and/or Ecology (such as, 
Ecology’s 5-year Review and annual cap maintenance). A detailed summary of Aspect’s estimated 
costs for post-construction Year 2, in 2024 dollars, is presented in Table 1 (attached). Table 1 also 
includes estimated costs for post-construction Years 3, 4, and 5, projected based on an assumed 
annual rate increase of approximately 5 percent per year.  

ASPECT | C STREET LANDFILL ENVIRONMENTAL CLEANUP
AMEND. NO. 03

EXHIBIT A

Page 4 of 10



City of Shelton 
May 31, 2024 Project No. 150074-C 

Page 3 

Sincerely, 

Aspect consulting 

Ali Cochrane, LG 
Senior Geologist 
ali.cochrane@aspectconsulting.com 

Carla Brock, LHG 
Sr. Principal Geologist 
carla.brock@aspectconsulting.com 

Attachments: Table 1 – Cost Estimate Detail 
 Rate Schedule

S:\City of Shelton\C Street Landfill 150074\Contracts\Finalized Contracts and Proposals\SOW_20240531_AS150074C_CStreet_Annual 
MonitoringY2-Y5.docx 

ASPECT | C STREET LANDFILL ENVIRONMENTAL CLEANUP
AMEND. NO. 03

EXHIBIT A

Page 5 of 10

Ali.Cochrane
Carla Brock

Ali.Cochrane
Acochrane_transparent



Ta
bl

e 
1.

 C
os

t E
st

im
at

e 
D

et
ai

l
C

ity
 o

f S
he

lto
n,

 P
ro

je
ct

 N
o.

 1
50

07
4C

La
bo

r C
os

ts
 

Fi
el

d 
Ho

ur
s

Of
fic

e 
Ho

ur
s

Fi
el

d 
Ho

ur
s

Of
fic

e 
Ho

ur
s

Fi
el

d 
Ho

ur
s

Of
fic

e 
Ho

ur
s

Fi
el

d 
Ho

ur
s

Of
fic

e 
Ho

ur
s

Se
ni

or
 P

rin
cip

al
 

$3
15

.0
0

ho
ur

16
5,

04
0

$ 
 

   
 

1
31

5
$ 

 
   

1
31

5
$ 

 
  

8
2,

52
0

$ 
 

   
 

Pr
in

cip
al

$2
85

.0
0

ho
ur

-
$ 

 
  

-
$ 

 
   

2
57

0
$ 

 
  

4
1,

14
0

$ 
 

   
 

Se
ni

or
 P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l

$2
55

.0
0

ho
ur

20
5,

10
0

$ 
 

   
 

4
1,

02
0

$ 
 

   
 

4
1,

02
0

$ 
 

   
 

32
8,

16
0

$ 
 

   
 

Pr
oj

ec
t P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l

$2
20

.0
0

ho
ur

-
$ 

 
  

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

Pr
of

es
sio

na
l

$1
95

.0
0

ho
ur

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

Sr
. S

ta
ff 

Pr
of

es
sio

na
l

$1
70

.0
0

ho
ur

-
$ 

 
  

-
$ 

 
  

12
2,

04
0

$ 
 

   
 

28
4

5,
44

0
$ 

 
   

 
St

af
f P

ro
fe

ss
io

na
l

$1
50

.0
0

ho
ur

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

20
3,

00
0

$ 
 

   
 

Se
ni

or
 D

es
ig

ne
r

$2
00

.0
0

ho
ur

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

De
sig

ne
r

$1
65

.0
0

ho
ur

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

Se
ni

or
 D

ra
fte

r/
CA

DD
$1

55
.0

0
ho

ur
-

$ 
 

  
-

$ 
 

   
1

15
5

$ 
 

  
-

$ 
 

   
Dr

af
te

r/
CA

DD
$1

35
.0

0
ho

ur
-

$ 
 

   
-

$ 
 

  
-

$ 
 

   
8

1,
08

0
$ 

 
   

 
Pr

oj
ec

t A
dm

in
ist

ra
to

r
$1

00
.0

0
ho

ur
16

1,
60

0
$ 

 
   

 
1

10
0

$ 
 

  
1

10
0

$ 
 

  
2

20
0

$ 
 

  
La

bo
r C

os
ts

 S
ub

to
ta

ls
11

,7
40

$ 
   

   
1

1,
43

5
$ 

   
   

  
2

4,
20

0
$ 

   
   

  
4

21
,5

40
$ 

   
   

6

Fi
el

d 
Eq

ui
pm

en
t &

 O
D

Cs
M

ar
ku

p 
=

 
1.

15
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n
R

at
e

U
ni

t
Co

st
N

ot
es

Co
st

N
ot

es
Co

st
N

ot
es

Co
st

N
ot

es
Tr

av
el

, A
sp

ec
t T

ru
ck

$1
10

da
y

-
$ 

 
  

-
$ 

 
   

1
11

0
$ 

 
  

2
22

0
$ 

 
  

Fi
el

d 
Eq

ui
p 

- G
W

 S
am

pl
in

g
$4

20
da

y
-

$ 
 

   
-

$ 
 

  
-

$ 
 

   
2

84
0

$ 
 

  
Fi

el
d 

Eq
ui

p 
- N

on
-S

am
pl

in
g 

M
on

ito
rin

g
$4

10
da

y
-

$ 
 

   
-

$ 
 

   
1

41
0

$ 
 

  
5

-
$ 

 
   

Fi
el

d 
Eq

ui
pm

en
t &

 O
D

Cs
 S

ub
to

ta
ls

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

52
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
1,

06
0

$ 
   

   
  

Su
bc

on
tr

ac
to

r C
os

ts
M

ar
ku

p 
=

 
1.

15
N

ot
es

N
ot

es
N

ot
es

N
ot

es
-

$ 
 

   
 

2,
99

8
$ 

 
   

 
3

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

-
$ 

 
   

75
9

$ 
 

   

Su
bc

on
tr

ac
to

r C
os

ts
 S

ub
to

ta
ls

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

2,
99

8
$ 

   
   

  
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
75

9
$ 

   
   

   
  

Su
bt

as
k 

Su
bt

ot
al

s
11

,7
40

$ 
   

   
4,

43
3

$ 
   

   
  

4,
72

0
$ 

   
   

  
23

,3
59

$ 
   

   

Ye
ar

 2
Ye

ar
 3

Ye
ar

 4
Ye

ar
 5

To
ta

l b
y 

Ta
sk

 

11
,7

40
$ 

   
  

12
,3

27
$ 

 
   

12
,9

43
$ 

 
  

13
,5

91
$ 

   
  

50
,6

01
$ 

 
   

4,
43

3
$ 

 
   

4,
65

5
$ 

 
   

 
4,

88
7

$ 
 

   
5,

13
2

$ 
 

   
19

,1
07

$ 
 

   
4,

72
0

$ 
 

   
4,

95
6

$ 
 

   
 

5,
20

4
$ 

 
   

5,
46

4
$ 

 
   

20
,3

44
$ 

 
   

23
,3

59
$ 

  
  

24
,5

27
$ 

 
   

25
,7

53
$ 

 
  

27
,0

41
$ 

  
  

10
0,

68
0

$ 
 

   
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--
--

--

44
,2

52
$ 

   
  

46
,4

65
$ 

 
   

48
,7

88
$ 

 
  

51
,2

27
$ 

   
  

19
0,

73
2

$ 
 

No
te

s 1 2
La

bo
r e

st
im

at
e 

is 
fo

r c
oo

rd
in

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

su
bc

on
tra

ct
or

 o
nl

y 
an

d 
as

su
m

es
 A

sp
ec

t i
s 

no
t o

ns
ite

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

su
rv

ey
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

. 
3

Qu
ot

e 
fro

m
 A

pe
x 

En
gi

ne
er

in
g,

 In
c.

 d
at

ed
 2

02
3.

4
La

bo
r e

st
im

at
e 

is 
fo

r o
ne

 s
ite

 v
isi

t b
y 

an
 A

sp
ec

t f
ie

ld
 te

ch
ni

cia
n,

 in
clu

di
ng

 tr
av

el
 to

/fr
om

 A
sp

ec
t's

 S
ea

ttl
e 

fie
ld

 o
ffi

ce
, a

nd
 p

re
pa

ra
tio

n 
of

 fi
el

d 
in

sp
ec

tio
n 

do
cu

m
en

ta
tio

n 
fo

rm
s.

 
5

Fi
el

d 
Eq

ui
pm

en
t -

 N
on

-s
am

pl
in

g 
m

on
ito

rin
g 

in
clu

de
s 

us
e 

of
 a

 G
PS

 a
nd

 fi
el

d 
ta

bl
et

/c
om

pu
te

r, 
an

d 
PP

E.
 

6
La

bo
r e

st
im

at
e 

is 
fo

r t
w

o 
gr

ou
nd

w
at

er
 m

on
ito

rin
g 

ev
en

ts
, a

nd
 a

ss
um

es
 e

ac
h 

ev
en

t i
s 

co
m

pl
et

ed
 in

 a
 s

in
gl

e 
fie

ld
 d

ay
, a

ss
um

es
 p

re
pa

ra
tio

n 
of

 o
ne

 a
nn

ua
l g

ro
un

dw
at

er
 m

on
ito

rin
g 

re
po

rt 
su

m
m

ar
izi

ng
 b

ot
h 

ev
en

ts
, a

nd
 a

ss
um

es
 a

na
ly

tic
al

 d
at

a 
is 

up
lo

ad
ed

 to
 E

co
lo

gy
's 

EI
M

 o
nc

e 
an

nu
al

ly
. 

*
Ta

sk
 d

es
cr

ib
ed

 is
 a

nt
ici

pa
te

d 
to

 b
e 

co
m

pl
et

ed
 b

y 
Ec

ol
og

y 
an

d/
or

 th
e 

Ci
ty

; n
o 

As
pe

ct
 fe

es
 a

re
 in

clu
de

d.
 If

 A
sp

ec
t s

up
po

rt 
is 

ne
ed

ed
, a

 s
co

pe
 a

nd
 fe

e 
es

tim
at

e 
w

ill 
be

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
at

 th
at

 ti
m

e.

**
Ye

ar
 1

 P
os

t-c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
co

st
s 

ha
ve

 a
lre

ad
y 

be
en

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 a

nd
 in

vo
ice

d 
to

 th
e 

Ci
ty

.

To
ta

l b
y 

Ye
ar

To
ta

l R
eq

ue
st

ed
 A

ut
ho

ri
za

tio
n

*F
irs

t 5
-y

ea
r r

ev
ie

w
 w

ith
 E

co
lo

gy
 (Y

ea
r 5

)
*A

nn
ua

l m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 a
nd

 fo
rm

al
 re

po
rti

ng
 (a

ll 
ye

ar
s)

Ta
sk

 4
. S

em
i-a

nn
ua

l g
ro

un
dw

at
er

 s
am

pl
in

g 
an

d 
in

fo
rm

al
 re

po
rti

ng
 (Y

ea
rs

 2
-5

)

Q
ua

nt
ity

Q
ua

nt
ity

Bi
d

Bi
d

Bi
d

Ta
sk

 4
Se

m
i-

An
nu

al
 G

ro
un

dw
at

er
 M

on
ito

ri
ng

 
(2

 e
ve

nt
s/

ye
ar

ly
 c

os
t, 

20
24

 d
ol

la
rs

)

Q
ua

nt
ity

Co
st

N
ot

es

Q
ua

nt
ity

Ta
sk

 1
Co

nt
in

ue
d 

PM
 &

 P
ro

gr
es

s 
R

ep
or

tin
g 

(y
ea

rl
y 

co
st

, 2
02

4 
do

lla
rs

)

Ta
sk

 2
An

nu
al

 T
op

og
ra

ph
ic

 S
ur

ve
y

(1
 e

ve
nt

 c
os

t, 
20

24
 d

ol
la

rs
)

Q
ua

nt
ity

Co
st

N
ot

es

Ta
sk

 3
An

nu
al

 L
an

df
ill

 C
ap

 I
ns

pe
ct

io
n

(1
 e

ve
nt

 c
os

t, 
20

24
 d

ol
la

rs
)

Q
ua

nt
ity

Co
st

N
ot

es

La
bo

r a
ss

um
es

 a
 d

ur
at

io
n 

of
 1

2 
m

on
th

s 
an

d 
pr

ep
ar

at
io

n 
of

 4
 q

ua
rte

rly
 p

ro
gr

es
s 

re
po

rts
.

Sa
m

pl
e 

An
al

ys
is 

- L
ab

or
at

or
y 

- G
W

Co
st

N
ot

es

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

Q
ua

nt
ity

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n

R
at

e
U

ni
t

Q
ua

nt
ity

To
po

gr
ap

hi
c 

Su
rv

ey
Bi

d

TO
TA

L 
CO

ST
 E

ST
IM

AT
E 

(P
os

t-
Co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n 
Ye

ar
s 

2 
th

ru
 5

)*
*

Ta
sk

 3
. A

nn
ua

l c
ap

 in
sp

ec
tio

ns
 a

nd
 in

fo
rm

al
 re

po
rti

ng
 (a

ll 
ye

ar
s)

Ta
sk

 2
. A

nn
ua

l t
op

og
ra

ph
ic 

su
rv

ey
 (a

ll 
ye

ar
s)

 
Ta

sk
 1

. P
M

 &
 P

ro
gr

es
s 

Re
po

rti
ng

 (a
ll 

ye
ar

s)
 

Po
st

-C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
M

on
ito

rin
g 

Ac
tiv

ity

As
pe

ct
 C

on
su

lti
ng

 0
5/

31
/2

02
4

S
:\C

ity
 o

f S
he

lto
n\

C
 S

tre
et

 L
an

df
ill 

15
00

74
\C

on
tra

ct
s\

Fi
na

liz
ed

 C
on

tra
ct

s 
an

d 
P

ro
po

sa
ls

\S
O

W
_2

02
40

53
1_

A
S

15
00

74
C

_C
os

tE
st

.x
ls

x

Ta
bl

e 
1

C
os

t E
st

im
at

e 
D

et
ai

l
Pa

ge
 1

 o
f 1

ASPECT | C STREET LANDFILL ENVIRONMENTAL CLEANUP
AMEND. NO. 03

EXHIBIT A

Page 6 of 10



CONFIDENTIAL 

US 2024 ASPECT 

2024 U.S. RATE SCHEDULE 
(All Values are in $USD) 

Rate/Hour 
Staff Professional $150 
Senior Staff Professional $170 
Professional $195 
Project Professional $220 
Senior Professional $255 
Principal $285 
Senior Principal $315 

Technician I $  85 
Technician II $  95 
Senior Technician I $100 
Senior Technician II $110 
Site Manager I $125 
Site Manager II $135 
Construction Manager I $145 
Construction Manager II $155 

Senior Designer 
Designer 

$200 
$165 

Senior Drafter/Senior CADD Operator $155 
Drafter/CADD Operator/Artist 
Senior Technical Editor 
Technical Editor 

$135 
$170 
$150 

Project Administrator $100 
Clerical $  75 

Direct Expenses Cost plus 15% 
Subcontract Services Cost plus 15% 
Specialized Computer Applications (per hour) $    15 
Personal Automobile (per mile) Current Gov’t Rate Plus 15% 
Photocopies (per page) $   .09 

Rates are provided on a confidential basis and are client and project specific. 
Unless otherwise agreed, rates will be adjusted annually based on a minimum of the Producer Price Index 

for Engineering Services. 
Rates for field equipment, health and safety equipment, and graphical supplies presented upon request. 

Construction management fee presented upon request. 

ASPECT | C STREET LANDFILL ENVIRONMENTAL CLEANUP
AMEND. NO. 03

EXHIBIT A

Page 7 of 10



ASPECT | C STREET LANDFILL ENVIRONMENTAL CLEANUP AMEND. NO. 03

Revised 10/25/23

EXHIBIT B
INVOICING REQUIREMENTS

The City acknowledges that each consulting firm has their own accounting software and that, in many cases, it 
may be difficult to change the output or appearance of reports. For City Staff to effectively manage projects and 
process invoices, however, certain information is critical.

The following are guidelines which the City requires all consultants to follow when preparing invoices for City of 
Shelton projects. 

1. Timing: Due to potential audit issues, the City cannot pay for work done prior to the date listed as the 
“effective date” noted at the top of the executed Professional or Personal Services Agreement (PSA). 
Services shall be invoiced for within sixty (60) days of performance but not more frequently than every thirty 
(30) days.

2. Individual Invoicing: In the case of multiple contracts/projects with the City of Shelton, separate invoices 
shall be submitted per Contract.

3. Cover Letter Report: A cover letter summarizing the work done on the project during the period of the 
invoice, signed by the project manager, must accompany each invoice submitted. Please identify the period 
covered by the invoice in the heading. The level of detail in the report should be commensurate with the 
quantity of work occurring during the billing period. Even for the most complex projects, however, a short 
paragraph for each major task should be sufficient.

4. Billing Voucher: A Billing Voucher (page 2, attached to this Exhibit) must be completed and accompany each 
invoice submitted; a digital pdf or fillable Word version of the document can be emailed upon request. The 
Billing Voucher summarizes the following: 
a. Submittal Number - the sequential number of invoices submitted to date, including the current invoice.
b. Consultant Information – Name, Mailing Address, Phone Number
c. Contract Information – Title of the Contract/Project, and Contract Expiration Date.
d. Reporting Period - shall be a range between two specific dates for which the invoice covers, such as 

January 1, 2023 – January 30, 2023.
e. Invoice Number - a unique number assigned to each invoice by the Consulting Firm in order to 

distinguish one invoice submission from another.
f. Indicates whether the invoice submittal is the final billing for the Contract.
g. Budget Summary – shows the total Contract Budget, Previous Payments, Current Request, Total 

Requested to Date, and Balance Remaining.

5. Task Breakout: Each invoice should list the amount being billed by tasks as shown in the Scope of Work. 
Under each task, include a list of all people that have worked on the project during the invoice period by 
name, job title, and billing rate; A listing by job title only is not acceptable.

6. Time Sheet Detail: Timesheet detail with comments (Diary Logs) are required for all time charged.

7. Backup: The City requires backup for all reimbursable expenses, and the guidelines outlined in Exhibit D - 
Reimbursable Expenses, must be followed.

8. Subconsultants: All requirements asked of the prime consultant must be followed by sub-consultants as 
well, including reimbursable expenses and Diary Logs.

9. Rates: It is the Consultant’s responsibility to verify that rates included on the invoice are consistent with the 
rates approved by the City, as identified in the executed Contract and any Contract Amendments.

10. Invoice Submittal: The invoice package shall be submitted to PW.Invoices@SheltonWA.gov, or via postal 
mail or courier addressed to: City of Shelton Attn: Procurement & Contracts Administrator, 525 W Cota 
Street, Shelton, WA 98584.

Page 8 of 10

mailto:PW.Invoices@sheltonwa.gov


ASPECT | C STREET LANDFILL ENVIRONMENTAL CLEANUP AMEND. NO. 03

Revised 10/25/23 Page 9 of 10



ASPECT  |  C STREET LANDFILL ENVIRONMENTAL CLEANUP AMEND. NO. 03

Revised 09/2023

Exhibit D – Reimbursable Expenses
Reimbursable expenses for Consultants/Contractors and Sub-Consultants/Sub-Contractors working for the City of Shelton shall follow the 
guidelines outlined below, unless otherwise specified in the Agreement. All reimbursable expenses will be billed at the actual direct cost, 
unless otherwise indicated below.

Expense Type Reimbursement Policies Documentation 
Required

Pre- Approval
Required?*

Hotel

Lodging reimbursement is limited to the current GSA per-diem 
daily lodging rate allowance for Mason County plus tax 
(https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources). The City does not 
reimburse for in-room purchases, laundry, or any other 
incidentals. The City will not reimburse extra booking fees or 
related charges.

Itemized Receipt 
from check out – 
Booking receipts 

will not be 
accepted

Yes

Airfare
Based on the most economical flights with reasonable routing. 
Business class and first class are not reimbursable.
Baggage fees are limited to one bag per person. 

Receipt Yes

Airport Shuttle/
Taxi/Rideshare Actual expense, may include a customary gratuity. Receipt Automatic when 

airfare approved

Rental Car Reimbursement for rental cars will be for a standard size car or 
smaller and reimbursed for the actual expense. Receipt Yes

Ferry Service
Only if required for travel between the local office and the City 
office/site. If other modes & routes are available, the cheaper 
route and mode shall be utilized.

Receipt No

Privately-Owned 
or Company Car

Mileage shall be calculated from the actual local office or office 
identified below and reimbursed at the IRS allowable rate for the 
current year. 

Printed Map w/ 
Mileage No

Zipcar/Similar 
Service

The City will reimburse contractual car rental fees to the extent 
they do not exceed the comparable mileage rate reimbursement.

Receipt & Printed 
Map No

Tolls
Only if required for travel between the local office and the City 
office/site. If other non-toll routes are possible, the cheapest route 
shall be utilized.

Good to Go or 
other statement No

Meals

Meal reimbursement is limited to the current GSA per-diem meal 
allowance, and only allowed when consultant travels overnight or 
at least 150 miles per one-way trip.  https://www.gsa.gov/travel-
resources

Itemized Receipt - 
Identify Person(s), 

Meal Type, and 
Dates of Travel

Yes

Courier or Parcel 
Services

Reimbursable only if required to fulfill a request of the City. Does 
not include routine correspondence. Receipt No

Printing, copying

Reimbursement will be allowed for documents that are to be 
provided to the owner or provided to an outside entity on behalf 
of the owner, only. Prints/copies of documents used by the 
Consultant/Contractor to perform normal services and not 
provided to the City are not reimbursable.

Receipt No

Sub-Consultants/ 
Sub-Contractors

Up to 5% markup allowed unless grant/funding guidelines prohibit. 
All subs are subject to these reimbursement guidelines. Sub-
Consultants hired to perform basic services required by the 
Contract are not eligible for reimbursement.

Sub-Invoices Yes

* Pre-approval means an approval in writing from the Contract Manager prior to the cost(s) being incurred.  Documentation of approval
shall be included with the invoice.

Office Address Mileage will be calculated from:

Page 10 of 10

3201 Martin Luther King Jr. Way

Seattle, Washington 98144

https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources
https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources
https://www.gsa.gov/travel-resources


1August 6, 2024

C-STREET LANDFILL CLOSURE 
PROJECT UPDATE

Site Aerial Photograph, August 2022



PROJECT SCOPE:

2

Offsite Waste Area

Miles Resources Property

Remove/Replace
Ex. Access Road

Remove waste & place onsite, 
backfill w/ onsite borrow soil.

Shelton C-Street 
Landfill Site

Landfill Closure Area:
1. Level trash surface, add 

granular base course.
2. Place geotextile liner.
3. Place/compact 2-foot non-

permeable cap fill.
4. Place 6-inches of topsoil.
5. Hydroseed disturbed 

areas.
6. Construct fence w/ gates 

around landfill cap area.

Landfill Closure Area

Soil 
Borrow 
Area

Soil 
Borrow 
Area



CONSTRUCTION PHOTOGRAPHS:

3

1-5-23 Looking South 1-5-23 Looking West

1-23-23 Looking West1-23-23 Looking South



CONSTRUCTION PHOTOGRAPHS:

4

1-25-23 Looking South 1-25-23 Looking West

1-28-23 Looking West1-27-23 Looking North



CONSTRUCTION PHOTOGRAPHS:

5

4-11-23 Looking South 4-11-23 Looking Southwest

4-13-23 Looking East 4-24-23 Looking Northeast



POST CONSTRUCTION:

6

11-13-2023 Looking North

7-2-2024 Settlement Monitoring Report 



7

QUESTIONS?

For more information, please contact:
Brent Armstrong
Public Work Superintendent
City of Shelton
360-432-5180
brent.armstrong@sheltonwa.gov

4-20-23 Offsite Waste Layer



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item F2) 

Touch Date:    07/15/2024 
Brief Date:       08/06/2024 
Action Date:  08/20/2024 

Department: Police Department 
   
Presented By: Chris Kostad, Chief of Police 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: 

  PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 
  FLOCK ALPR Camera System 
 
  ATTACHMENTS:  
  FLOCK L.E. Agreement 
  MSA – Flock Safety 
  WAPTA Grant 

   

 
Action Requested: 
 

 Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head  CK 

 
 

 
Finance Director   

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk  

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION:   
The FLOCK Safety System is a camera system that is capable of reading and storing license plates of vehicles 
being driven on roads and highways. The initial system designed for Shelton has a total of 12 cameras that will 
be strategically placed on the most prevalent roads and highways entering the City of Shelton. The cameras 
are equipped with automatic license plate reading (ALPR) technology that captures and stores the rear license 
plate of vehicles for 30 days. If the system detects a stolen or wanted vehicle it sends out an automatic 
notification to on-duty Shelton police officers detailing the location of the vehicle, vehicle description, and the 
want status. The system also detects vehicles wanted in amber and silver alerts.  
   
ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES:  
N/A 
   
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION:  
The initial set up cost for a 2-year contract is $40,800 (1st year) and a subsequent annual subscription fee of 
$36,000. The City was awarded a grant from WAPTA for $20,400 to be applied to the first-year initial set up fee. 
An additional annual budget increase for $36,000 will be needed for program continuance. 
 
PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
Information can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office. 
   
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
“I move to place this item on the August 20, 2024 Council meeting action agenda for further consideration.”   



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Flock Safety + WA - Shelton PD 
______________ 

 

Flock Group Inc. 

1170 Howell Mill Rd, Suite 210 

Atlanta, GA 30318 

______________ 

 

MAIN CONTACT: 

Garret Thomson 

garret.thomson@flocksafety.com 

3606329332 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  



 

 
 

 

EXHIBIT A  

ORDER FORM 
 

Customer: WA - Shelton PD  Initial Term: 24 Months 

Legal Entity Name: WA - Shelton PD  Renewal Term: 24 Months 

Accounts Payable Email:   Payment Terms: Net 30 

Address: 525 W Cota St Shelton, Washington 98584  Billing Frequency: Annual Plan - First Year Invoiced at Signing.            
 Retention Period: 30 Days 

   

 
Hardware and Software Products 
Annual recurring amounts over subscription term 

 

Item Cost Quantity Total 

Flock Safety Platform   $36,000.00 

Flock Safety LPR Products    

Flock Safety Falcon ® Included 12 Included 

 

 

Professional Services and One Time Purchases 
    

Item Cost Quantity Total 

One Time Fees    

Flock Safety Professional Services    

Professional Services - Standard Implementation Fee $650.00 6 $3,900.00 

Professional Services - Existing Infrastructure 
Implementation Fee 

$150.00 6 $900.00 

 

 

 

  Subtotal Year 1: $40,800.00 

  Annual Recurring Subtotal: $36,000.00 

  Estimated Tax: $6,758.40 

  
Contract Total: $76,800.00 

 

Taxes shown above are provided as an estimate. Actual taxes are the responsibility of the Customer. This Agreement will automatically renew for successive 

renewal terms of the greater of one year or the length set forth on the Order Form (each, a “Renewal Term”) unless either Party gives the other Party 

notice of non-renewal at least thirty (30) days prior to the end of the then-current term.  

 
 

 

 

 

  



Billing Schedule 
 

Billing Schedule Amount (USD) 

Year 1  

At Contract Signing $40,800.00 

Annual Recurring after Year 1 $36,000.00 

Contract Total $76,800.00 

*Tax not included 

 

 



Product and Services Description 
 

Flock Safety Platform Items Product Description Terms 

Flock Safety Falcon ® 

An infrastructure-free license plate reader camera that utilizes Vehicle 

Fingerprint® technology to capture vehicular attributes. 

The Term shall commence upon first installation and validation of Flock 

Hardware. 

 

One-Time Fees Service Description 

Installation on existing 

infrastructure 

One-time Professional Services engagement. Includes site & safety assessment, camera setup & testing, and shipping & handling in accordance with 

the Flock Safety Advanced Implementation Service Brief. 

Professional Services - Standard 

Implementation Fee 

One-time Professional Services engagement. Includes site and safety assessment, camera setup and testing, and shipping and handling in accordance 

with the Flock Safety Standard Implementation Service Brief. 

Professional Services - 

Advanced Implementation Fee 

One-time Professional Services engagement. Includes site & safety assessment, camera setup & testing, and shipping & handling in accordance with 

the Flock Safety Advanced Implementation Service Brief. 

 

FlockOS Features & Description 
FlockOS Features Description 

  



 
By executing this Order Form, Customer represents and warrants that it has read and agrees all of the terms 

and conditions contained in the Terms of Service located at https://www.flocksafety.com/terms-and-conditions  

 
 
 

The Parties have executed this Agreement as of the dates set forth below. 

 
FLOCK GROUP, INC.  Customer: WA - Shelton PD 
 

By: 
\FSSignature2\ 

 By: 
\FSSignature1\ 

Name: 
\FSFullname2\ 

 Name: 
\FSFullname1\ 

Title: 
\FSTitle2\ 

 Title: 
\FSTitle1\ 

Date: 
\FSDateSigned2\ 

 Date: 
\FSDateSigned1\ 

 
 

 PO Number: 
 

 
 

https://www.flocksafety.com/terms-and-conditions


Master Services Agreement 
 

This Master Services Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into by and between 

Flock Group, Inc. with a place of business at 1170 Howell Mill Road NW Suite 210, Atlanta, 

GA 30318 (“Flock”) and the entity identified in the signature block (“Customer”) (each a 

“Party,” and together, the “Parties”) on this the 13 day of March 2024. This Agreement is 

effective on the date of mutual execution (“Effective Date”). Parties will sign an Order Form 

(“Order Form”) which will describe the Flock Services to be performed and the period for 

performance, attached hereto as Exhibit A. The Parties agree as follows: 

 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, Flock offers a software and hardware situational awareness solution 

through Flock’s technology platform that upon detection is capable of capturing audio, video, 

image, and recording data and provide notifications to Customer (“Notifications”); 

 

WHEREAS, Customer desires access to the Flock Services (defined below) on existing 

devices, provided by Customer, or Flock provided Flock Hardware (as defined below) in order to 

create, view, search and archive Footage and receive Notifications, via the Flock Services; 

 

WHEREAS, Customer shall have access to the Footage in Flock Services. Pursuant to 

Flock’s standard Retention Period (defined below) Flock deletes all Footage on a rolling thirty 

(30) day basis, except as otherwise stated on the Order Form. Customer shall be responsible for 

extracting, downloading and archiving Footage from the Flock Services on its own storage 

devices; and  
 

WHEREAS, Flock desires to provide Customer the Flock Services and any access 

thereto, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, solely for the awareness, 

prevention, and prosecution of crime, bona fide investigations and evidence gathering for law 

enforcement purposes, (“Permitted Purpose”).  

 

AGREEMENT 



 

NOW, THEREFORE, Flock and Customer agree that this Agreement, and any Order 

Form, purchase orders, statements of work, product addenda, or the like, attached hereto as 

exhibits and incorporated by reference, constitute the complete and exclusive statement of the 

Agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement, and replace and 

supersede all prior agreements, term sheets, purchase orders, correspondence, oral or written 

communications and negotiations by and between the Parties. 

1. DEFINITIONS 

Certain capitalized terms, not otherwise defined herein, have the meanings set forth or cross-

referenced in this Section 1. 

1.1 “Anonymized Data” means Customer Data permanently stripped of identifying details and 

any potential personally identifiable information, by commercially available standards which 

irreversibly alters data in such a way that a data subject (i.e., individual person or entity) can no 

longer be identified directly or indirectly.  

1.2 “Authorized End User(s)” means any individual employees, agents, or contractors of 

Customer accessing or using the Services, under the rights granted to Customer pursuant to this 

Agreement. 

1.3 “Customer Data” means the data, media and content provided by Customer through the 

Services. For the avoidance of doubt, the Customer Data will include the Footage.  

1.4. “Customer Hardware” means the third-party camera owned or provided by Customer and 

any other physical elements that interact with the Embedded Software and the Web Interface to 

provide the Services. 

1.5 “Embedded Software” means the Flock proprietary software and/or firmware integrated with 

or installed on the Flock Hardware or Customer Hardware.  

1.6 “Flock Hardware” means the Flock device(s), which may include the pole, clamps, solar 

panel, installation components, and any other physical elements that interact with the Embedded 

Software and the Web Interface, to provide the Flock Services as specifically set forth in the 

applicable product addenda. 



1.7 “Flock IP” means the Services, the Embedded Software, and any intellectual property or 

proprietary information therein or otherwise provided to Customer and/or its Authorized End 

Users. Flock IP does not include Footage (as defined below). 

1.8 “Flock Network End User(s)” means any user of the Flock Services that Customer 

authorizes access to or receives data from, pursuant to the licenses granted herein.  

1.9 “Flock Services” means the provision of Flock’s software and hardware situational 

awareness solution, via the Web Interface, for automatic license plate detection, alerts, audio 

detection, searching image records, video and sharing Footage.  

1.10 “Footage” means still images, video, audio and other data captured by the Flock Hardware 

or Customer Hardware in the course of and provided via the Flock Services.  

1.11 “Hotlist(s)” means a digital file containing alphanumeric license plate related information 

pertaining to vehicles of interest, which may include stolen vehicles, stolen vehicle license 

plates, vehicles owned or associated with wanted or missing person(s), vehicles suspected of 

being involved with criminal or terrorist activities, and other legitimate law enforcement 

purposes. Hotlist also includes, but is not limited to, national data (i.e., NCIC) for similar 

categories, license plates associated with AMBER Alerts or Missing Persons/Vulnerable Adult 

Alerts, and includes manually entered license plate information associated with crimes that have 

occurred in any local jurisdiction. 

1.12 “Installation Services” means the services provided by Flock for installation of Flock 

Services. 

1.13 “Retention Period” means the time period that the Customer Data is stored within the cloud 

storage, as specified in the product addenda. 

1.14 “Vehicle Fingerprint™” means the unique vehicular attributes captured through Services 

such as: type, make, color, state registration, missing/covered plates, bumper stickers, decals, 

roof racks, and bike racks.  

1.15 “Web Interface” means the website(s) or application(s) through which Customer and its 

Authorized End Users can access the Services. 

  



2. SERVICES AND SUPPORT 

2.1 Provision of Access. Flock hereby grants to Customer a non-exclusive, non-transferable 

right to access the features and functions of the Flock Services via the Web Interface during the 

Term, solely for the Authorized End Users. The Footage will be available for Authorized End 

Users to access and download via the Web Interface for the data retention time defined on the 

Order Form (“Retention Period”). Authorized End Users will be required to sign up for an 

account and select a password and username (“User ID”). Customer shall be responsible for all 

acts and omissions of Authorized End Users, and any act or omission by an Authorized End User 

which, including any acts or omissions of authorized End user which would constitute a breach 

of this agreement if undertaken by customer. Customer shall undertake reasonable efforts to 

make all Authorized End Users aware of all applicable provisions of this Agreement and shall 

cause Authorized End Users to comply with such provisions. Flock may use the services of one 

or more third parties to deliver any part of the Flock Services, (such as using a third party to host 

the Web Interface for cloud storage or a cell phone provider for wireless cellular coverage).  

2.2 Embedded Software License. Flock grants Customer a limited, non-exclusive, non-

transferable, non-sublicensable (except to the Authorized End Users), revocable right to use the 

Embedded Software as it pertains to Flock Services, solely as necessary for Customer to use the 

Flock Services. 

2.3 Support Services.  Flock shall monitor the Flock Services, and any applicable device health, 

in order to improve performance and functionality. Flock will use commercially reasonable 

efforts to respond to requests for support within seventy-two (72) hours. Flock will provide 

Customer with reasonable technical and on-site support and maintenance services in-person, via 

phone or by email at support@flocksafety.com (such services collectively referred to as 

“Support Services”). 

2.4 Upgrades to Platform. Flock may make any upgrades to system or platform that it deems 

necessary or useful to (i) maintain or enhance the quality or delivery of Flock’s products or 

services to its agencies, the competitive strength of, or market for, Flock’s products or services, 

such platform or system’s cost efficiency or performance, or (ii) to comply with applicable law. 

Parties understand that such upgrades are necessary from time to time and will not diminish the 

quality of the services or materially change any terms or conditions within this Agreement. 

mailto:hello@flocksafety.com


2.5 Service Interruption. Services may be interrupted in the event that: (a) Flock’s provision of 

the Services to Customer or any Authorized End User is prohibited by applicable law; (b) any 

third-party services required for Services are interrupted; (c) if Flock reasonably believe Services 

are being used for malicious, unlawful, or otherwise unauthorized use; (d) there is a threat or 

attack on any of the Flock IP by a third party; or (e) scheduled or emergency maintenance 

(“Service Interruption”). Flock will make commercially reasonable efforts to provide written 

notice of any Service Interruption to Customer, to provide updates, and to resume providing 

access to Flock Services as soon as reasonably possible after the event giving rise to the Service 

Interruption is cured. Flock will have no liability for any damage, liabilities, losses (including 

any loss of data or profits), or any other consequences that Customer or any Authorized End 

User may incur as a result of a Service Interruption. To the extent that the Service Interruption is 

not caused by Customer’s direct actions or by the actions of parties associated with the 

Customer, the time will be tolled by the duration of the Service Interruption (for any continuous 

suspension lasting at least one full day). For example, in the event of a Service Interruption 

lasting five (5) continuous days, Customer will receive a credit for five (5) free days at the end of 

the Term. 

2.6 Service Suspension. Flock may temporarily suspend Customer’s and any Authorized End 

User’s access to any portion or all of the Flock IP or Flock Service if (a) there is a threat or 

attack on any of the Flock IP by Customer; (b) Customer’s or any Authorized End User’s use of 

the Flock IP disrupts or poses a security risk to the Flock IP or any other customer or vendor of 

Flock; (c) Customer or any Authorized End User is/are using the Flock IP for fraudulent or 

illegal activities; (d) Customer has violated any term of this provision, including, but not limited 

to, utilizing Flock Services for anything other than the Permitted Purpose; or (e) any 

unauthorized access to Flock Services through Customer’s account (“Service Suspension”). 

Customer shall not be entitled to any remedy for the Service Suspension period, including any 

reimbursement, tolling, or credit. If the Service Suspension was not caused by Customer, the 

Term will be tolled by the duration of the Service Suspension. 

2.7 Hazardous Conditions. Flock Services do not contemplate hazardous materials, or other 

hazardous conditions, including, without limit, asbestos, lead, toxic or flammable substances. In 

the event any such hazardous materials are discovered in the designated locations in which Flock 



is to perform services under this Agreement, Flock shall have the right to cease work 

immediately.   

3. CUSTOMER OBLIGATIONS 

3.1 Customer Obligations. Flock will assist Customer Authorized End Users in the creation of a 

User ID. Authorized End Users agree to provide Flock with accurate, complete, and updated 

registration information. Authorized End Users may not select as their User ID, a name that they 

do not have the right to use, or any other name with the intent of impersonation. Customer and 

Authorized End Users may not transfer their account to anyone else without prior written 

permission of Flock. Authorized End Users shall not share their account username or password 

information and must protect the security of the username and password. Unless otherwise stated 

and defined in this Agreement, Customer shall not designate Authorized End Users for persons 

who are not officers, employees, or agents of Customer. Authorized End Users shall only use 

Customer-issued email addresses for the creation of their User ID. Customer is responsible for 

any Authorized End User activity associated with its account. Customer shall ensure that 

Customer provides Flock with up to date contact information at all times during the Term of this 

agreement. Customer shall be responsible for obtaining and maintaining any equipment and 

ancillary services needed to connect to, access or otherwise use the Flock Services. Customer 

shall (at its own expense) provide Flock with reasonable access and use of Customer facilities 

and Customer personnel in order to enable Flock to perform Services (such obligations of 

Customer are collectively defined as “Customer Obligations”). 

3.2 Customer Representations and Warranties. Customer represents, covenants, and warrants 

that Customer shall use Flock Services only in compliance with this Agreement and all 

applicable laws and regulations, including but not limited to any laws relating to the recording or 

sharing of data, video, photo, or audio content.   

4. DATA USE AND LICENSING  

4.1 Customer Data. As between Flock and Customer, all right, title and interest in the Customer 

Data, belong to and are retained solely by Customer. Customer hereby grants to Flock a limited, 

non-exclusive, royalty-free, irrevocable, worldwide license to use the Customer Data and 

perform all acts as may be necessary for Flock to provide the Flock Services to Customer. Flock 

does not own and shall not sell Customer Data. 



4.2 Customer Generated Data. Flock may provide Customer with the opportunity to post, 

upload, display, publish, distribute, transmit, broadcast, or otherwise make available, messages, 

text, illustrations, files, images, graphics, photos, comments, sounds, music, videos, information, 

content, ratings, reviews, data, questions, suggestions, or other information or materials produced 

by Customer (“Customer Generated Data”). Customer shall retain whatever legally cognizable 

right, title, and interest in Customer Generated Data. Customer understands and acknowledges 

that Flock has no obligation to monitor or enforce Customer’s intellectual property rights of 

Customer Generated Data. Customer grants Flock a non-exclusive, irrevocable, worldwide, 

royalty-free, license to use the Customer Generated Data for the purpose of providing Flock 

Services. Flock does not own and shall not sell Customer Generated Data.  

4.3 Anonymized Data. Flock shall have the right to collect, analyze, and anonymize Customer 

Data and Customer Generated Data to the extent such anonymization renders the data non-

identifiable to create Anonymized Data to use and perform the Services and related systems and 

technologies, including the training of machine learning algorithms. Customer hereby grants 

Flock a non-exclusive, worldwide, perpetual, royalty-free right to use and distribute such 

Anonymized Data to improve and enhance the Services and for other development, diagnostic 

and corrective purposes, and other Flock offerings. Parties understand that the aforementioned 

license is required for continuity of Services. Flock does not own and shall not sell Anonymized 

Data. 

5. CONFIDENTIALITY; DISCLOSURES 

5.1 Confidentiality. To the extent required by any applicable public records requests, each Party 

(the “Receiving Party”) understands that the other Party (the “Disclosing Party”) has disclosed 

or may disclose business, technical or financial information relating to the Disclosing Party’s 

business (hereinafter referred to as “Proprietary Information” of the Disclosing Party). 

Proprietary Information of Flock includes non-public information regarding features, 

functionality and performance of the Services. Proprietary Information of Customer includes 

non-public data provided by Customer to Flock or collected by Flock via Flock Services, which 

includes but is not limited to geolocation information and environmental data collected by 

sensors. The Receiving Party agrees: (i) to take the same security precautions to protect against 

disclosure or unauthorized use of such Proprietary Information that the Party takes with its own 



proprietary information, but in no event less than commercially reasonable precautions, and (ii) 

not to use (except in performance of the Services or as otherwise permitted herein) or divulge to 

any third person any such Proprietary Information. The Disclosing Party agrees that the 

foregoing shall not apply with respect to any information that the Receiving Party can document 

(a) is or becomes generally available to the public; or (b) was in its possession or known by it 

prior to receipt from the Disclosing Party; or (c) was rightfully disclosed to it without restriction 

by a third party; or (d) was independently developed without use of any Proprietary Information 

of the Disclosing Party. Nothing in this Agreement will prevent the Receiving Party from 

disclosing the Proprietary Information pursuant to any judicial or governmental order, provided 

that the Receiving Party gives the Disclosing Party reasonable prior notice of such disclosure to 

contest such order. At the termination of this Agreement, all Proprietary Information will be 

returned to the Disclosing Party, destroyed or erased (if recorded on an erasable storage 

medium), together with any copies thereof, when no longer needed for the purposes above, or 

upon request from the Disclosing Party, and in any case upon termination of the Agreement. 

Notwithstanding any termination, all confidentiality obligations of Proprietary Information that 

is trade secret shall continue in perpetuity or until such information is no longer trade secret. 

5.2 Usage Restrictions on Flock IP. Flock and its licensors retain all right, title and interest in 

and to the Flock IP and its components, and Customer acknowledges that it neither owns nor 

acquires any additional rights in and to the foregoing not expressly granted by this Agreement. 

Customer further acknowledges that Flock retains the right to use the foregoing for any purpose 

in Flock’s sole discretion. Customer and Authorized End Users shall not: (i) copy or duplicate 

any of the Flock IP; (ii) decompile, disassemble, reverse engineer, or otherwise attempt to obtain 

or perceive the source code from which any software component of any of the Flock IP is 

compiled or interpreted, or apply any other process or procedure to derive the source code of any 

software included in the Flock IP; (iii) attempt to modify, alter, tamper with or repair any of the 

Flock IP, or attempt to create any derivative product from any of the foregoing; (iv) interfere or 

attempt to interfere in any manner with the functionality or proper working of any of the Flock 

IP; (v) remove, obscure, or alter any notice of any intellectual property or proprietary right 

appearing on or contained within the Flock Services or Flock IP; (vi) use the Flock Services for 

anything other than the Permitted Purpose; or (vii) assign, sublicense, sell, resell, lease, rent, or 



otherwise transfer, convey, pledge as security, or otherwise encumber, Customer’s rights. There 

are no implied rights. 

5.3 Disclosure of Footage. Subject to and during the Retention Period, Flock may access, use, 

preserve and/or disclose the Footage to law enforcement authorities, government officials, and/or 

third parties, if legally required to do so or if Flock has a good faith belief that such access, use, 

preservation or disclosure is reasonably necessary to comply with a legal process, enforce this 

Agreement, or detect, prevent or otherwise address security, privacy, fraud or technical issues, or 

emergency situations. 

6. PAYMENT OF FEES 

6.1 Billing and Payment of Fees. Customer shall pay the fees set forth in the applicable Order 

Form based on the billing structure and payment terms as indicated in the Order Form. If 

Customer believes that Flock has billed Customer incorrectly, Customer must contact Flock no 

later than thirty (30) days after the closing date on the first invoice in which the error or problem 

appeared to receive an adjustment or credit. Customer  acknowledges and agrees that a failure to 

contact Flock within this period will serve as a waiver of any claim. If any undisputed fee is 

more than thirty (30) days overdue, Flock may, without limiting its other rights and remedies, 

suspend delivery of its service until such undisputed invoice is paid in full. Flock shall provide at 

least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to Customer of the payment delinquency before 

exercising any suspension right.  

6.2 Notice of Changes to Fees. Flock reserves the right to change the fees for subsequent 

Renewal Terms by providing sixty (60) days’ notice (which may be sent by email) prior to the 

end of the Initial Term or Renewal Term (as applicable). 

6.3 Late Fees. If payment is not issued to Flock by the due date of the invoice, an interest 

penalty of 1.0% of any unpaid amount may be added for each month or fraction thereafter, until 

final payment is made.  

6.4 Taxes. Customer is responsible for all taxes, levies, or duties, excluding only taxes based on 

Flock’s net income, imposed by taxing authorities associated with the order.  If Flock has the 

legal obligation to pay or collect taxes, including amount subsequently assessed by a taxing 

authority, for which Customer is responsible, the appropriate amount shall be invoice to and paid 

by Customer unless Customer provides Flock a legally sufficient tax exemption certificate and 



Flock shall not charge customer any taxes from which it is exempt. If any deduction or 

withholding is required by law, Customer shall notify Flock and shall pay Flock any additional 

amounts necessary to ensure that the net amount that Flock receives, after any deduction and 

withholding, equals the amount Flock would have received if no deduction or withholding had 

been required.  

7. TERM AND TERMINATION 

7.1 Term. The initial term of this Agreement shall be for the period of time set forth on the 

Order Form (the “Term”). Following the Term, unless otherwise indicated on the Order Form, 

this Agreement will automatically renew for successive renewal terms of the greater of one year 

or the length set forth on the Order Form (each, a “Renewal Term”) unless either Party gives the 

other Party notice of non-renewal at least thirty (30) days prior to the end of the then-current 

term. 

7.2 Termination. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement, Flock will remove any 

applicable Flock Hardware at a commercially reasonable time period. In the event of any 

material breach of this Agreement, the non-breaching Party may terminate this Agreement prior 

to the end of the Term by giving thirty (30) days prior written notice to the breaching Party; 

provided, however, that this Agreement will not terminate if the breaching Party has cured the 

breach prior to the expiration of such thirty (30) day period (“Cure Period”). Either Party may 

terminate this Agreement (i) upon the institution by or against the other Party of insolvency, 

receivership or bankruptcy proceedings, (ii) upon the other Party's making an assignment for the 

benefit of creditors, or (iii) upon the other Party's dissolution or ceasing to do business. In the 

event of a material breach by Flock, and Flock is unable to cure within the Cure Period, Flock 

will refund Customer a pro-rata portion of the pre-paid fees for Services not received due to such 

termination. 

7.3 Survival. The following Sections will survive termination: 1, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8.3, 8.4, 9, 11.1 and 

11.6. 

  



8. REMEDY FOR DEFECT; WARRANTY AND DISCLAIMER 

8.1 Manufacturer Defect. Upon a malfunction or failure of Flock Hardware or Embedded 

Software (a “Defect”), Customer must notify Flock’s technical support team. In the event of a 

Defect, Flock shall make a commercially reasonable attempt to repair or replace the defective 

Flock Hardware at no additional cost to the Customer. Flock reserves the right, in its sole 

discretion, to repair or replace such Defect, provided that Flock shall conduct inspection or 

testing within a commercially reasonable time, but no longer than seven (7) business days after 

Customer gives notice to Flock. 

8.2 Replacements. In the event that Flock Hardware is lost, stolen, or damaged, Customer may 

request a replacement of Flock Hardware at a fee according to the reinstall fee schedule 

(https://www.flocksafety.com/reinstall-fee-schedule). In the event that Customer chooses not to 

replace lost, damaged, or stolen Flock Hardware, Customer understands and agrees that (1) Flock 

Services will be materially affected, and (2) that Flock shall have no liability to Customer 

regarding such affected Flock Services, nor shall Customer receive a refund for the lost, 

damaged, or stolen Flock Hardware.  

8.3 Warranty. Flock shall use reasonable efforts consistent with prevailing industry standards to 

maintain the Services in a manner which minimizes errors and interruptions in the Services and 

shall perform the Installation Services in a professional and workmanlike manner. Services may 

be temporarily unavailable for scheduled maintenance or for unscheduled emergency 

maintenance, either by Flock or by third-party providers, or because of other causes beyond 

Flock’s reasonable control, but Flock shall use reasonable efforts to provide advance notice in 

writing or by e-mail of any scheduled service disruption.   

8.4 Disclaimer. THE REMEDY DESCRIBED IN SECTION 8.1 ABOVE IS CUSTOMER’S 

SOLE REMEDY, AND FLOCK’S SOLE LIABILITY, WITH RESPECT TO DEFECTS. 

FLOCK DOES NOT WARRANT THAT THE SERVICES WILL BE UNINTERRUPTED OR 

ERROR FREE; NOR DOES IT MAKE ANY WARRANTY AS TO THE RESULTS THAT 

MAY BE OBTAINED FROM USE OF THE SERVICES. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET 

FORTH IN THIS SECTION, THE SERVICES ARE PROVIDED “AS IS” AND FLOCK 

DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT 

LIMITED TO, IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A 

https://www.flocksafety.com/reinstall-fee-schedule


PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND NON-INFRINGEMENT. THIS DISCLAIMER ONLY 

APPLIES TO THE EXTENT ALLOWED BY THE GOVERNING LAW OF THE STATE 

MENTIONED IN SECTION 11.6. 

8.5 Insurance. Flock will maintain commercial general liability policies as stated in Exhibit B. 

8.6 Force Majeure. Parties are not responsible or liable for any delays or failures in 

performance from any cause beyond their control, including, but not limited to acts of God, 

changes to law or regulations, embargoes, war, terrorist acts, pandemics (including the spread of 

variants), issues of national security, acts or omissions of third-party technology providers, riots, 

fires, earthquakes, floods, power blackouts, strikes, supply chain shortages of equipment or 

supplies, financial institution crisis, weather conditions or acts of hackers, internet service 

providers or any other third party acts or omissions. 

9. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY; INDEMNITY 

9.1 Limitation of Liability. NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY, 

FLOCK, ITS OFFICERS, AFFILIATES, REPRESENTATIVES, CONTRACTORS AND 

EMPLOYEES SHALL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE OR LIABLE WITH RESPECT TO ANY 

SUBJECT MATTER OF THIS AGREEMENT OR TERMS AND CONDITIONS RELATED 

THERETO UNDER ANY CONTRACT, NEGLIGENCE, STRICT LIABILITY, PRODUCT 

LIABILITY, OR OTHER THEORY: (A) FOR LOSS OF REVENUE, BUSINESS OR 

BUSINESS INTERRUPTION; (B) INCOMPLETE, CORRUPT, OR INACCURATE DATA; 

(C) COST OF PROCUREMENT OF SUBSTITUTE GOODS, SERVICES OR 

TECHNOLOGY; (D) FOR ANY INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL OR 

CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES; (E) FOR ANY MATTER BEYOND FLOCK’S ACTUAL 

KNOWLEDGE OR REASONABLE CONTROL INCLUDING REPEAT CRIMINAL 

ACTIVITY OR INABILITY TO CAPTURE FOOTAGE; OR (F) FOR ANY AMOUNTS 

THAT, TOGETHER WITH AMOUNTS ASSOCIATED WITH ALL OTHER CLAIMS, 

EXCEED THE FEES PAID AND/OR PAYABLE BY CUSTOMER TO FLOCK FOR THE 

SERVICES UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IN THE TWELVE (12) MONTHS PRIOR TO THE 

ACT OR OMISSION THAT GAVE RISE TO THE LIABILITY, IN EACH CASE, WHETHER 

OR NOT FLOCK HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. 

THIS LIMITATION OF LIABILITY OF SECTION ONLY APPLIES TO THE EXTENT 



ALLOWED BY THE GOVERNING LAW OF THE STATE REFERENCED IN SECTION 

10.6. NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY, THE FOREGOING 

LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY SHALL NOT APPLY (I) IN THE EVENT OF GROSS 

NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, OR (II) INDEMNIFICATION 

OBLIGATIONS. 

9.2 Responsibility. Each Party to this Agreement shall assume the responsibility and liability for 

the acts and omissions of its own employees, officers, or agents, in connection with the 

performance of their official duties under this Agreement. Each Party to this Agreement shall be 

liable for the torts of its own officers, agents, or employees.  

9.3 Flock Indemnity. Flock shall indemnify and hold harmless Customer, its agents and 

employees, from liability of any kind, including claims, costs (including defense) and expenses, 

on account of: (i) any copyrighted material, patented or unpatented invention, articles, device or 

appliance manufactured or used in the performance of this Agreement; or (ii) any damage or 

injury to property or person directly caused by Flock’s installation of Flock Hardware, except for 

where such damage or injury was caused solely by the negligence of the Customer or its agents, 

officers or employees. Flock’s performance of this indemnity obligation shall not exceed the fees 

paid and/or payable for the services rendered under this Agreement in the preceding twelve (12) 

months. 

10. INSTALLATION SERVICES AND OBLIGATIONS 

10.1  Ownership of Hardware. Flock Hardware is owned and shall remain the exclusive 

property of Flock. Title to any Flock Hardware shall not pass to Customer upon execution of this 

Agreement, except as otherwise specifically set forth in this Agreement. Except as otherwise 

expressly stated in this Agreement, Customer is not permitted to remove, reposition, re-install, 

tamper with, alter, adjust or otherwise take possession or control of Flock Hardware. Customer 

agrees and understands that in the event Customer is found to engage in any of the foregoing 

restricted actions, all warranties herein shall be null and void, and this Agreement shall be 

subject to immediate termination for material breach by Customer. Customer shall not perform 

any acts which would interfere with the retention of title of the Flock Hardware by Flock. Should 

Customer default on any payment of the Flock Services, Flock may remove Flock Hardware at 

Flock’s discretion. Such removal, if made by Flock, shall not be deemed a waiver of Flock’s 



rights to any damages Flock may sustain as a result of Customer’s default and Flock shall have 

the right to enforce any other legal remedy or right. 

10.2 Deployment Plan. Flock shall advise Customer on the location and positioning of the Flock 

Hardware for optimal product functionality, as conditions and locations allow. Flock will 

collaborate with Customer to design the strategic geographic mapping of the location(s) and 

implementation of Flock Hardware to create a deployment plan (“Deployment Plan”). In the 

event that Flock determines that Flock Hardware will not achieve optimal functionality at a 

designated location, Flock shall have final discretion to veto a specific location, and will provide 

alternative options to Customer. 

10.3 Changes to Deployment Plan. After installation of Flock Hardware, any subsequent 

requested changes to the Deployment Plan, including, but not limited to, relocating, re-

positioning, adjusting of the mounting, removing foliage, replacement, changes to heights of 

poles will incur a fee according to the reinstall fee schedule located at 

(https://www.flocksafety.com/reinstall-fee-schedule). Customer will receive prior notice and 

confirm approval of any such fees.  

10.4 Customer Installation Obligations. Customer is responsible for any applicable 

supplementary cost as described in the Customer Implementation Guide, attached hereto as 

Exhibit C (“Customer Obligations”). Customer represents and warrants that it has, or shall 

lawfully obtain, all necessary right title and authority and hereby authorizes Flock to install the 

Flock Hardware at the designated locations and to make any necessary inspections or 

maintenance in connection with such installation.  

10.5 Flock’s Obligations. Installation of any Flock Hardware shall be installed in a professional 

manner within a commercially reasonable time from the Effective Date of this Agreement. Upon 

removal of Flock Hardware, Flock shall restore the location to its original condition, ordinary 

wear and tear excepted. Flock will continue to monitor the performance of Flock Hardware for 

the length of the Term. Flock may use a subcontractor or third party to perform certain 

obligations under this agreement, provided that Flock’s use of such subcontractor or third party 

shall not release Flock from any duty or liability to fulfill Flock’s obligations under this 

Agreement.  

11. MISCELLANEOUS 

https://www.flocksafety.com/reinstall-fee-schedule


11.1 Compliance With Laws. Parties shall comply with all applicable local, state and federal 

laws, regulations, policies and ordinances and their associated record retention schedules, 

including responding to any subpoena request(s). 

11.2 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is found to be unenforceable or invalid, 

that provision will be limited or eliminated to the minimum extent necessary so that this 

Agreement will otherwise remain in full force and effect. 

11.3 Assignment. This Agreement is not assignable, transferable or sublicensable by either 

Party, without prior consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either Party may assign this 

Agreement, without the other Party's consent, (i) to any parent, subsidiary, or affiliate entity, or 

(ii) to any purchaser of all or substantially all of such Party's assets or to any successor by way of 

merger, consolidation or similar transaction.  

11.4 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the Order Form(s), the reinstall fee 

schedule (https://www.flocksafety.com/reinstall-fee-schedule), and any attached exhibits are the 

complete and exclusive statement of the mutual understanding of the Parties and supersedes and 

cancels all previous or contemporaneous negotiations, discussions or agreements, whether 

written and oral , communications and other understandings relating to the subject matter of this 

Agreement, and that all waivers and modifications must be in a writing signed by both Parties, 

except as otherwise provided herein. None of Customer’s purchase orders, authorizations or 

similar documents will alter the terms of this Agreement, and any such conflicting terms are 

expressly rejected. Any mutually agreed upon future purchase order is subject to these legal 

terms and does not alter the rights and obligations under this Agreement, except that future 

purchase orders may outline additional products, services, quantities and billing terms to be 

mutually accepted by Parties. In the event of any conflict of terms found in this Agreement or 

any other terms and conditions, the terms of this Agreement shall prevail. Customer agrees that 

Customer’s purchase is neither contingent upon the delivery of any future functionality or 

features nor dependent upon any oral or written comments made by Flock with respect to future 

functionality or feature. 

11.5 Relationship. No agency, partnership, joint venture, or employment is created as a result of 

this Agreement and Parties do not have any authority of any kind to bind each other in any 

respect whatsoever. Flock shall at all times be and act as an independent contractor to Customer.   

https://www.flocksafety.com/reinstall-fee-schedule


11.6 Governing Law; Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the state in 

which the Customer is located. The Parties hereto agree that venue would be proper in the 

chosen courts of the State of which the Customer is located. The Parties agree that the United 

Nations Convention for the International Sale of Goods is excluded in its entirety from this 

Agreement.  

11.7 Special Terms. Flock may offer certain special terms which are indicated in the proposal 

and will become part of this Agreement, upon Customer’s prior written consent and the mutual 

execution by authorized representatives (“Special Terms”). To the extent that any terms of this 

Agreement are inconsistent or conflict with the Special Terms, the Special Terms shall control.  

11.8 Publicity. Flock has the right to reference and use Customer’s name and trademarks and 

disclose the nature of the Services in business and development and marketing efforts.  

11.9 Feedback. If Customer or Authorized End User provides any suggestions, ideas, 

enhancement requests, feedback, recommendations or other information relating to the subject 

matter hereunder, Agency or Authorized End User hereby assigns to Flock all right, title and 

interest (including intellectual property rights) with respect to or resulting from any of the 

foregoing. 

11.10 Export. Customer may not remove or export from the United States or allow the export or 

re-export of the Flock IP or anything related thereto, or any direct product thereof in violation of 

any restrictions, laws or regulations of the United States Department of Commerce, the United 

States Department of Treasury Office of Foreign Assets Control, or any other United States or 

foreign Customer or authority. As defined in Federal Acquisition Regulation (“FAR”), section 

2.101, the Services, the Flock Hardware and Documentation are “commercial items” and 

according to the Department of Defense Federal Acquisition Regulation (“DFAR”) section 

252.2277014(a)(1) and are deemed to be “commercial computer software” and “commercial 

computer software documentation.” Flock is compliant with FAR Section 889 and does not 

contract or do business with, use any equipment, system, or service that uses the enumerated 

banned Chinese telecommunication companies, equipment or services as a substantial or 

essential component of any system, or as critical technology as part of any Flock system. 

Consistent with DFAR section 227.7202 and FAR section 12.212, any use, modification, 

reproduction, release, performance, display, or disclosure of such commercial software or 

commercial software documentation by the U.S. Government will be governed solely by the 



terms of this Agreement and will be prohibited except to the extent expressly permitted by the 

terms of this Agreement. 

11.11 Headings. The headings are merely for organization and should not be construed as 

adding meaning to the Agreement or interpreting the associated sections. 

11.12 Authority. Each of the below signers of this Agreement represent that they understand this 

Agreement and have the authority to sign on behalf of and bind the Parties they are representing.   

11.13 Conflict. In the event there is a conflict between this Agreement and any applicable 

statement of work, or Customer purchase order, this Agreement controls unless explicitly stated 

otherwise. 

11.14 Morality. In the event Customer or its agents become the subject of an indictment, 

contempt, scandal, crime of moral turpitude or similar event that would  negatively impact or 

tarnish Flock’s reputation, Flock shall have the option to terminate this Agreement upon prior 

written notice to Customer. 

11.15 Notices. All notices under this Agreement will be in writing and will be deemed to have 

been duly given when received, if personally delivered; when receipt is electronically confirmed, 

if transmitted by email; the day after it is sent, if sent for next day delivery by recognized 

overnight delivery service; and upon receipt to the address listed on the Order Form (or, if 

different, below), if sent by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested.   

11.16 Non-Appropriation. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, all 

obligations of the Customer under this Agreement which require the expenditure of funds are 

conditioned on the availability of funds appropriated for that purpose. Customer shall have the 

right to terminate this Agreement for non appropriation with thirty (30) days written notice 

without penalty or other cost. 

 

  



 

FLOCK NOTICES ADDRESS: 

1170 HOWELL MILL ROAD, NW SUITE 210  

ATLANTA, GA 30318 

ATTN: LEGAL DEPARTMENT  

EMAIL: legal@flocksafety.com 

 

Customer NOTICES ADDRESS: 

ADDRESS:  

ATTN:  

EMAIL:  

  



EXHIBIT B  

INSURANCE  

 

Required Coverage. Flock shall procure and maintain for the duration of this Agreement 

insurance against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property that may arise from or in 

connection with the performance of the services under this Agreement and the results of that 

work by Flock or its agents, representatives, employees or subcontractors. Insurance shall be 

placed with insurers with a current A. M. Best rating of no less than “A” and “VII”. Flock shall 

obtain and, during the term of this Agreement, shall maintain policies of professional liability 

(errors and omissions), automobile liability, and general liability insurance for insurable amounts 

of not less than the limits listed herein. The insurance policies shall provide that the policies shall 

remain in full force during the life of the Agreement. Flock shall procure and shall maintain 

during the life of this Agreement Worker's Compensation insurance as required by applicable 

State law for all Flock employees. 

Types and Amounts Required. Flock shall maintain, at minimum, the following insurance 

coverage for the duration of this Agreement: 

(i) Commercial General Liability insurance written on an occurrence basis with minimum 

limits of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence and Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) 

in the aggregate for bodily injury, death, and property damage, including personal injury, 

contractual liability, independent contractors, broad-form property damage, and product and 

completed operations coverage;  

(ii) Umbrella or Excess Liability insurance written on an occurrence basis with minimum limits 

of Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000) per occurrence and Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000) in 

the aggregate; 

(iii) Professional Liability/Errors and Omissions insurance with minimum limits of Five 

Million Dollars ($5,000,000) per occurrence and Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000) in the 

aggregate;  

(iv) Commercial Automobile Liability insurance with a minimum combined single limit of 

One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence for bodily injury, death, and property coverage, 

including owned and non-owned and hired automobile coverage; and 



(v) Cyber Liability insurance written on an occurrence basis with minimum limits of Five 

Million Dollars ($5,000,000).  

 



WWAASSHHIINNGGTTOONN  AAUUTTOO  TTHHEEFFTT  PPRREEVVEENNTTIIOONN  AAUUTTHHOORRIITTYY  
WASHINGTON ASSOCIATION OF SHERIFFS AND POLICE CHIEFS 

 

 

 
July 10, 2024 
 
 
Shelton Police Department 
Via Email 
 
I am pleased to inform you that Washington Auto Theft Prevention Authority (WATPA) Board 
of Directors has approved the Shelton Police Department grant application for funding of 
Equipment & Technology. The award is in the amount of $20,400.00.  The grant award is 
effective June 1, 2024 and expires on June 30, 2025. This award is a one-time event and does 
not imply or promise availability of funds for replacement or continuation of funding after June 
30, 2025.   
 
Enclosed is an award agreement. This agreement is to be signed and returned to WATPA. No 
funds will be reimbursed until the signed agreement is received. Expenditures prior to the award 
effective date or after the grant expiration date are not authorized and will not be reimbursed. All 
grant awards are subject to Grant Policies and Procedures of the Washington Auto Theft 
Prevention Authority. Costs will be paid on a reimbursement basis. Your agency will be 
reimbursed for actual expenses only up to the limit of the award categories. All grantees must 
sign the attached non-supplanting agreement before reimbursement can begin.  Also, please note 
that reimbursement requests by grant recipients will only be processed upon receipt of current 
semi-annual reports by the WATPA office. The semi-annual report form is available on the 
WATPA website, www.WaAutoTheftPreventionAuthority.org 
 
If you have any questions, please contact me at Phone: 253-677-8576 E-mail: bjeter@waspc.org 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Bryan Jeter, Executive Director 
Washington Auto Theft Prevention Authority 

http://www.waautotheftpreventionauthority.org/


 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN SHELTON POLICE DEPARTMENT AND THE  
WASHINGTON AUTO THEFT PREVENTION AUTHORITY 

 
AUTO THEFT PREVENTION GRANT PROGRAM AWARD AGREEMENT 

  
 
Award Recipient Name and Address:  
Shelton Police Department 
525 W Cota St, Shelton, WA 98584 
 

 

Award Period: 
06/1/2024 - 06/30/25 

Amount Approved 
$20,400.00 

Funding Authority: 
WASHINGTON AUTO THEFT 
PREVENTION AUTHORITY 

 

 
 
Requests for reimbursement under this agreement are subject to the following Budget: 
 
EQUIPMENT & TECHNOLOGY 
$20,400.00 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the WATPA and RECIPIENT acknowledge and accept the terms of 
this AGREEMENT and attachments hereto, and in witness whereof have executed this 
AGREEMENT as of the date and year last written below. The rights and obligations of both 
parties to this AGREEMENT are governed by the information on this Award Sheet and other 
document incorporated herein by reference: Non-Supplanting Declaration. 
 

 

 
WATPA   RECIPIENT  

Name
/ 
Title: 

Bryan Jeter 
WATPA, Executive Director 

 

Name
/ 
Title: 

 

 
Date:  Date:  



Council Briefing Form  Revised 07/01/2020 

 

CITY OF SHELTON  
COUNCIL BRIEFING REQUEST 

(Agenda Item F3) 

Touch Date:    07/15/2024 
Brief Date:       08/06/2024 
Action Date:  08/20/2024 

Department: Police Department 
   
Presented By: Chris Kostad, Chief of Police 

 
  
APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET: 

  PROGRAM/PROJECT TITLE: 
   PUD Poles for License Plate 
   Recognition (LPR) Cameras  
 
  ATTACHMENTS:  
   - PUD Agreement 
   
 

   

 
Action Requested: 
 

 Ordinance 

 Resolution 

 Motion 

 Other 
 

ROUTE TO: REVIEWED: 
 

 
 
Dept. Head  CK 

 
 

 
Finance Director   

 
 

 
Attorney  

 
 

 
City Clerk  

 
 

 
City Manager 

 
      

 
DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAM/PROJECT AND BACKGROUND INFORMATION:   
In an effort to minimize the cost of the FLOCK Safety System, a request was submitted to PUD to use existing 
power poles to mount the FLOCK cameras to in-lieu of contracting with FLOCK Safety to install new mounting 
poles. Existing power poles that coincide with the suggested camera locations by FLOCK have been identified 
and pre-determined by PUD as suitable locations for camera placement.  
   
ANALYSIS/OPTIONS/ALTERNATIVES:  
N/A 
   
BUDGET/FISCAL INFORMATION:  
No expense to the budget. 
 
PUBLIC INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS:  
Information can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office. 
   
STAFF RECOMMENDATION/MOTION:  
“I move to place this PUD agreement on the August 20, 2024 Council meeting action agenda for further 
consideration.”   



 

7/24/2024 
1  

 
 

AGREEMENT FOR USE OF UTILITY POLES 
FOR SHELTON POLICE DEPARTMENT GOVERNMENTAL FACILITIES 

 
 

This Agreement for use of utility poles (“Agreement”) is effective this _____ day 
of __________ 20_____, by and between the City of Shelton Police Department, a 
Washington Governmental Agency (City of Shelton) and Public Utility District No. 3 of 
Mason County, a Washington municipal corporation, (PUD 3), collectively referred to as 
the “Parties.” In consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions hereinafter 
provided it is agreed as follows: 

 
 

RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS: City of Shelton Police Department is interested in attaching License 
Plate Reader Cameras (LPRs) on PUD 3 utility poles to facilitate City of Shelton Police 
in performing their duties and providing public safety. 

 
WHEREAS:   PUD 3 desires to accommodate posting of Governmental Facilities 

where poles are available and where such posting will not negatively impact PUD 3’s 
operation of its electric and fiber distribution systems; 

 
 

Now, therefore it is agreed between City of Shelton and PUD 3 as follows: 
 

1. Governmental Facilities is limited to installing and maintaining LPRs and 
shall require approval by the PUD 3 Joint Use Administrator to be on any 
pole. The Governmental Facilities shall be related to public safety and 
Official Police duties. 
 

2. The care and maintenance of the Governmental Facilities is the 
responsibility of City of Shelton. PUD 3 reserves the right to remove any 
facilities that become hazardous, damaged, in disrepair, abandoned, or 
are installed improperly within 30 days of notification, if corrections are not 
made. 
 

3. City of Shelton shall reimburse PUD 3 for any damage to PUD 3 poles 
caused by the facilities or the installation and removal of the facilities. 

 
4. City of Shelton shall notify PUD 3 using attachment or notice of removal 

forms, available from the Joint Use Administrator. 
 



 

7/24/2024 
2  

5. LPR equipment size and configuration must be approved by the PUD 3 
Joint Use Administrator based on the size and type of power pole, with 
options limited to service poles, light poles, fiber poles, or guy stub poles. 

 
6. Attachment of facilities to PUD 3 poles shall be done without drilling. Non-

corrosive ties or bands approved for use by PUD 3 can be used. Bolts or 
lag screws are prohibited unless specifically approved by PUD 3. 
 

7. City of Shelton Police Governmental Facilities shall be used and 
attachment thereof to PUD 3’s poles shall be made, maintained, and 
operated at the City of Shelton ‘s sole risk and expense and in accordance 
with the requirements and specifications of the National Electric Safety 
Code (NESC), the National Electric Code (NEC), the laws of the State of 
Washington, Municipal Ordinances and Regulations, the Occupational 
Safety and Health Act (OSHA), and PUD 3’s Standards for Attachments 
now in effect or which may be hereinafter made effective, including but not 
limited to the Specifications. 
 

8. At its own risk and expense, upon written notice from PUD 3, City of 
Shelton shall change, alter, improve, remove, or renew its property hereby 
covered in such manner as PUD 3 may direct. Should it become 
necessary at any time to change the location of any of the City of Shelton 
facilities from one position to another on PUD 3’s poles, such work shall 
be done by qualified workers at the City of Shelton’s sole risk and expense 
and notice shall be given to PUD 3 Joint Use Administrator. 

 
9. Each year by June 15, City of Shelton will update PUD 3’s Joint Use 

Administrator with pole numbers where Shelton Police has Governmental 
Facilities attached. 

 
10. There shall be no fee associated with the attachments by City of Shelton 

Police Department to PUD 3 poles under this program and agreement. 
 
11. The extent of PUD 3’s participation in the City of Shelton’s License Plate 

Reader Program is to provide access to utility infrastructure which the 
LPRs may be attached to. PUD 3 has no interaction or responsibility 
whatsoever in the operation or maintenance of the LPRs, nor the content 
that it may or may not capture, nor the action or inaction, nor validity of the 
content and the City of Shelton’s program. 

 
12. City of Shelton and the Shelton Police Department shall indemnify and 

hold harmless PUD 3 and its representatives, agents, officers and 
employees from and against any and all loss, damage, or liability resulting 
from demands, claims, suits, or actions of any character presented or 
brought for any injuries (including death) to persons and for damages to 
property caused by or arising out of any negligent (including strict liability), 



 

7/24/2024 
3  

wanton or intentional act or omission of the City of Shelton or Shelton 
Police Department, anyone directly or indirectly employed by it, or anyone 
for whose acts it may be liable, in any way associated or connected with 
the performance of the obligations herein, in whatever manner the same 
may be caused. It is the expressed intent of the parties that PUD 3 shall 
be liable only for those damages attributable to the extent of its own 
negligence and shall not be liable for any damages (either economic or 
non-economic) attributable to the acts of any other person or entity. The 
foregoing indemnity shall include, but not be limited to, court costs, 
attorney’s fees, costs of investigation, costs of defense, settlements and 
judgments associated with such demands, claims, suits or actions. 
Shelton Police shall give an immediate notice to PUD 3 of the occurrence 
of any personal injury or property damage, occurring at PUD 3’s poles. 
After mutual negotiation of the parties, the indemnification obligation shall 
not be limited by the amount or type of damages, compensation or 
benefits payable by or for City of Shelton employee/volunteer under 
workers’ compensation acts, disability benefit acts or other employee 
benefit acts in claims by an employee of City of Shelton or entity 
indemnified. For the sole purpose of effecting the indemnification 
obligations under this Contract and not for the benefit of any third parties 
unrelated to the Owner, City of Shelton specifically and expressly waives 
any immunity that may be granted it under Title 51 RCW, "Industrial 
Insurance."  

 
13. There are no additional parties intended to be benefited under this 

agreement. There are no other agreements or representations, written or 
oral, concerning the subject matter of this agreement. 

 
14. This Agreement shall be governed for all purposes by the law of the State 

of Washington. The venue for any action arising under this Agreement 
shall be in Mason County, Washington, unless otherwise mutually agreed 
in writing by the parties. 

 
15. No amendments or variations of the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement shall be valid unless they are in writing and signed by all of the 
parties thereto. 

 
16. The Parties agree to perform any further acts and to execute and deliver 

any further documents as may be reasonably necessary to fully effectuate 
the provisions of this Agreement. 

 
17. None of the Parties shall be liable nor deemed to be in default for any 

delay or failure in performance under the Agreement or other interruption 
of service or employment resulting, directly or indirectly, from acts of God, 
civil or military authority, acts of the public enemy, terrorism, bomb threats, 
computer virus, epidemic, power outage, acts of war, accidents, fires, 



 

7/24/2024 
4  

explosions, earthquakes, floods, failure of transportation, machinery, or 
supplies, vandalism, strikes or other work interruptions by the employees 
of any party, or any other cause beyond the reasonable control of the 
party affected thereby.  However, each party shall utilize its best good faith 
efforts to perform under this Agreement in the event of any such 
occurrence or circumstance.  

 
18. This Agreement will be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by 

applicable law.  If any term or provision of this Agreement is held to be 
invalid, illegal, or unenforceable by a court or other governmental authority 
of competent jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall 
not affect any other term or provision of this Agreement, which shall 
remain in full force and affect.  

 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this agreement 
effective the date first above written; 

 
 
 
 

City of Shelton: 
 

 
 
          
City Manager       Date 
 
 
 
          
Chief of Police      Date 
 
 
 

Mason PUD 3: 
 
 
 
          
CEO/Manager      Date 


	1 Agenda_20240806
	2 2024 Looking Ahead
	3 Vouchers_20240806
	3a Agenda Briefing
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	3b Res No 1341-0724_Wallace Kneeland_Shelton Springs Grant Acceptance
	3c Attachments
	190614 Award Letter_2019-2021 State Transportation Budget
	Award Extension 04242024
	2024-0313 Wallace Kneeland Traffic Memo

	4 DRAFT Minutes_20240625_Study Session
	COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL
	ADJOURN
	Mayor Onisko adjourned the meeting at 6:47 p.m.

	5 DRAFT Minutes_20240702
	COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL

	6 DRAFT Minutes_20240709_Study Session
	COUNCILMEMBERS AND PERSONNEL
	ADJOURN
	Mayor Onisko adjourned the meeting at 6:59 p.m.

	7 Q1 LTAC Report_Chamber
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3: Shelton Caboose Visitor Information Center Location: Type of Visitors
	Slide 4: Hood Canal Visitor Information Center Location: Type of Visitors
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7

	8 Briefing, Aspect C-Street Amend No. 3
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	9 Res 1342-0724 Aspect C-Street Contract Amend. No. 3
	10 Partially Executed Amendment No. 3_Aspect_C Street
	11 C-Street Landfill Closure Presentation
	Slide Number 1
	PROJECT SCOPE:
	CONSTRUCTION PHOTOGRAPHS:
	CONSTRUCTION PHOTOGRAPHS:
	CONSTRUCTION PHOTOGRAPHS:
	POST CONSTRUCTION:
	Slide Number 7

	12 FLOCK Briefing
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	13 Law Enforcement Agreement
	14 Master Service Agreement
	1. DEFINITIONS
	2. SERVICES AND SUPPORT
	3. CUSTOMER OBLIGATIONS
	5. CONFIDENTIALITY; DISCLOSURES
	6. PAYMENT OF FEES
	7. TERM AND TERMINATION
	8. REMEDY FOR DEFECT; WARRANTY AND DISCLAIMER
	9. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY; INDEMNITY
	10. INSTALLATION SERVICES AND OBLIGATIONS
	11. MISCELLANEOUS

	15 WAPTA Grant
	16 PUD Briefing
	APPROVED FOR COUNCIL PACKET:

	17 PUD Agreement



